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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For fiscal years ended October 31 (unaudited)

(in millions of dollars, except per share data)                  

2012 2011
Variation 

in %

Operations
Revenues
Adjusted operating income before amortization (1)

Operating income (loss)
Adjusted operating income (1)

Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares 
Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (1)

Cash flows generated by operating activities before changes  
  in non-cash operating items and income tax paid
Cash flows from continuing operations

 
 

$  2,112.1
357.6
(9.7)

245.2
(183.3)

149.4

320.8
229.0  

 
$  1,989.3

365.4
176.3
246.6
120.7
155.3

373.0
331.8 

 
 
 6

(2
n

(1
n

(4

(14
(31

 %
)%
 / a
)%
/ a
)%

)% 
)%

Investment and Financing
Business acquisitions (2)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (including intangibles)
Share buyback of participating shares

60.4
59.3
17.3 

35.8
64.7

n/a 

69
(8
n

 
 % 
)%
/ a

Per share data (basic)
Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares 
Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (1)

Cash flows generated by operating activities before changes  
  in non-cash operating items and income tax paid
Cash flows from continuing operations
Dividends on participating shares

 
 (2.27)

1.85 

3.98
 2.84
0.57

 1.49
1.92

4.60
4.10
0.49

 
 
 

n
(4

(14
(31
16

 
/ a 
)% 

)% 
)% 
 %

Average number of participating shares outstanding (in millions)   80.7 81.0

As at 
October 31 

2012 

As at 
October 31 

2011

Financial condition 
Total assets
Shareholders’ equity
Adjusted net indebtedness (1)

Adjusted net indebtedness ratio (1)

$ 2,136.2
901.4
470.8

1.32x

$ 2,360.0
1,202.9

539.4
1.48

 

x

Shareholders’ equity per participating shares $    10.17 $    13.66$

Number of participating shares at end of period (in millions) 79.1  81.0 
(1) Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of non-IFRS Financial Measures” on page 42.
(2) Total consideration in cash or otherwise for businesses acquired through the purchase of shares or assets.
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PROFILE:  Largest printer and leading provider of media and marketing activation solutions in Canada,  
TC Transcontinental creates products and services that allow businesses to attract, reach and retain their 
target customers.  The Corporation specializes in print and digital media, the production of magazines, 
newspapers, books and custom content, mass and personalized marketing, interactive and mobile  
applications, TV production and door-to-door distribution.

Transcontinental Inc. (TSX: TCL.A, TCL.B, TCL.PR.D), known by the brands TC Transcontinental, TC Media  
and TC Transcontinental Printing, has approximately 9,500 employees in Canada and the United States,  
and reported revenues of C$2.1 billion in 2012. Website www.tc.tc

Largest 
printer  
in Canada

AT A GLANCE

Leading provider  
of media and 
marketing activation 
solutions in Canada
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OUR MISSION: Help companies to attract, reach and retain their target customers.

OUR VISION: Become a North American leader in marketing communications.

OUR VALUES: Innovation, Teamwork, Respect and Performance.

OUR PILLARS: Customers, Employees, Shareholders and Communities.

OUR CORE COMPETENCIES: Leadership, Critical Thinking, Building Expertise and Delivering Results.

MARKETING ACTIVATION: Creation of integrated marketing programs triggered by consumer insight, propelled  
by content and delivered across various media vehicles, digital and interactive solutions, and print products. 
These programs respond to the marketing challenges of customers and build on their brand equity and their 
operational strengths.

$2.1 billion in 
reported revenues

9,500  
employees
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Letter to Shareholders

Prior to my appointment as 
Chair of the Board of Directors  
in February 2012, I was  
responsible for the entire 
strategic planning process  
and oversaw the Corporation’s 
mergers and acquisitions 
activities. I therefore witnessed 
the changes taking place in the 
marketing communications 
space across North America.  
I know very well the issues  
and challenges facing  
TC Transcontinental. 

It is this in-depth knowledge 
that I bring to the table in my 
new responsibilities. As Chair  
of the Board, I must continually 
take into account the long-term 
interests of our shareholders, 
our customers, our employees 
and our partners and this 
perspective leads me to believe 
that we are well-positioned to 
fulfill our mission. I look to the 
future of TC Transcontinental 
with renewed confidence.

CHAIR OF THE BOARD LETTER
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A judicious and orderly transformation 
We have always been able to adapt ourselves  
to our customers’ changing needs. In an 
environment where digital platforms now 
capture close to 20% of the advertising 
dollars in Canada, our customers strive  
to reach and inform their target audiences  
in an increasingly personalized manner.  
Our integrated offering of print, digital, 
mobile and interactive products responds 
specifically to these new requirements and 
places us in a unique position in Canada.

Printed products work together with new 
platforms. In 2012, they still capture close  
to 40% of advertising spend and remain  
the key driver of marketing communications. 
Our service offering therefore is evolving  
in line with these changes as we continue  
to accompany our customers every step of 
the way to meet their new needs. 

Our approach is clearly illustrated by  
our actions in the past fiscal year. On  
the one hand, we strengthened our core 
operations in Canada by completing  
the strategic acquisition of the printer  
Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc., by renewing  
a number of printing and distribution 
contracts, by selling non strategic assets 
and by continuing to invest in our brands.  
On the other hand, we pursued our transforma-
tion by accelerating the deployment of  
our content on digital media, launching 
television production, expanding even  
more our digital representation network  
and offering increasingly sophisticated 
integrated multiplatform solutions. 

Market conditions and our transformation 
process put pressure on our financial 
results. However, there are reasons to  
be optimistic going forward. Our action  
plan is being carried out prudently, while 
considering the realities of the marketplace 
and the evolving needs of our customers.  
The significant cash flows we generate  
and the flexibility provided by our low debt 
level will allow us to stay focused on our 
longer term growth strategy. 

Growing responsibly
We have made the four pillars of sustainable 
development, namely governance, 
environment, prosperity and people,  
one of our corporate priorities. 

Therefore, given the transformation we  
are undergoing, it is essential to surround 
ourselves with the skill set to support our 
business strategy with sound governance. 
As a result, our Board of Directors has 
appointed a new member, Alain Tascan, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of  
Sava Transmedia, a publisher and developer 
of social gaming online and on mobile 
platforms. Mr. Tascan’s strategic background 
and expertise in the digital realm  
complement the skills and knowledge  
of our other Board members. 

With regards to protecting the environment, 
we have already reached or surpassed many 
of the objectives that we had set in 2010, 
namely in terms of reducing greenhouse 
gases and energy consumption. We continue 
to pursue our efforts on that front.

Our development is also dependent  
on maintaining disciplined financial 
management. Our low level of debt and 
strong balance sheet enables us not only  
to pursue our transformation, but to reward 
our shareholders through dividend increases 
and help our communities, within our means, 
through our Corporate Donations Policy. 

Finally, our growth is made possible by  
TC Transcontinental’s employee engagement 
and we thus strive to offer them a safe  
and healthy workplace in which they  
can blossom.

OUR ACTION PLAN IS BEING 
CARRIED OUT PRUDENTLY, 
WHILE CONSIDERING  
THE REALITIES OF THE 
MARKETPLACE AND THE 
EVOLVING NEEDS OF  
OUR CUSTOMERS.

AT TC TRANSCONTINENTAL, WHERE THE “T” STANDS FOR NEW TECHNOLOGY  
AND THE “C” STANDS FOR DIVERSE COMMUNITIES, WE AIM TO ATTRACT 
CUSTOMERS THROUGH INNOVATIVE TECHNOLOGIES WHILE ACCOMPLISHING  
OUR MISSION WHICH IS TO OFFER ADVERTISERS VARIOUS INTEGRATED  
PLATFORMS TO REACH THEIR TARGET AUDIENCES.

OUR SERVICE OFFERING 
THEREFORE IS EVOLVING  
IN LINE WITH THESE 
CHANGES AS WE CONTINUE 
TO ACCOMPANY OUR 
CUSTOMERS EVERY STEP  
OF THE WAY TO MEET  
THEIR NEW NEEDS.

Our people are our strength  
In closing, I would like to thank our 
customers and shareholders for their  
loyalty. I also wish to thank our  
9,500 employees and experienced 
management team, under the outstanding 
leadership of François Olivier, for their 
ongoing dedication to ensuring the success 
of our Corporation and their renewed  
attitude towards innovation. I reiterate  
my total support. 

I would like to also thank the unfailing 
support of our Board members over the past 
year. I am especially grateful to our founder, 
Rémi Marcoux, whose tour to express his 
appreciation to our employees for their 
commitment during his 35 years at the  
helm of TC Transcontinental reminded us  
all of what has always been our strength:  
our people. I’d also like to warmly thank 
Harold “Sonny” Gordon, for his sound advice 
and valuable collaboration over the past  
20 years on the Board of Directors.

In the next few years, there will be no lack  
of challenges in our industry, but it will 
continue to offer excellent business  
opportunities for TC Transcontinental.  
I am certain that we have all the necessary 
tools to meet the expectations of all  
our partners.

Chair of the Board,

Isabelle Marcoux 
December 19, 2012
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Several years ago, to better 
position ourselves in a market  
in transformation, we adjusted 
our strategic direction. Our 
strategy is both to accompany  
our customers in their new 
marketing needs, and to continue 
offering them our traditional  
yet proven products and services 
to help them attract, reach  
and retain their target consumers. 
However, activating change is 
never a completely smooth process.

In effect, 2012 presented us  
with a number of challenges and 
opportunities. We had to contend 
with a soft national advertising 
market, competitive pressures in 
some niches and other unusual 
items. However, we also achieved 
several wins. The acquisition of 
Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. was 
an important milestone in our 
development and the continued 
implementation of our marketing 
activation approach enabled us  
to optimize revenue growth 
through a differentiated  
go-to-market model. 

PRESIDENT AND CEO LETTER
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Strengthening our core assets  
The highlight of 2012, without question,  
was the acquisition of the operations  
of the printer, Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. 
This transaction will add about $200 million 
in annualized revenues and generate 
synergies of more than $40 million  
once the integration is completed. 
This transaction confirms our position  
as the largest printer in Canada. 

In the midst of this deal, we began earlier, 
and even accelerated, the renewal process 
of several agreements with customers. 
These contracts, with terms of up to six 
years, are worth more than $1.75 billion  
and are a testament to our strong customer 
relationships and the confidence our 
customers have in our capabilities. In addition, 
these agreements secure a significant 
portion of our cash flows for future years.

Furthermore, in 2012, we enriched our 
content creation offering by expanding  
the scope of our network of community 
newspapers, for which we are the leading 
publisher in Quebec and the Atlantic 
provinces. We launched or acquired  
several new publications, as well as 
purchased all of the shares of the daily 
newspaper Métro in Montreal. 

We also made the business decision to sell 
our black and white book printing operations, 
as we believed the long-term prospects  
for this segment were not compelling for 
the Corporation.

Ongoing development of new  
marketing services
In 2012, we created the new position of  
Chief Marketing Activation Officer. The 
purpose of this role is to integrate our 
products and services in printing, print and 
digital media, and interactive marketing 
solutions for our major accounts. The key 
components of our go-to-market strategy 
are consumer insight, creation of  
premium and targeted content and 
multiplatform deployment.

Our recent entry into television production 
has enhanced our multiplatform offering  
by providing another channel to promote our 
own brands and those of our customers  
to a broader public, by leveraging our 
newspapers and magazines. In addition,  
we rapidly expanded our digital adverti-
sing representation services through  
North American partnerships and the 
acquisition of a majority interest in  
Redux Media. Our network now reaches  
close to 19.9 million unique visitors per 
month, or two out of every three Internet 
users in Canada. We also continued to 
develop mobile applications for our 
customers and for our own brands. 

Lastly, in the course of our innovation 
program, we introduced Panoramax, the 
largest promotional insert in Canada printed 
on high volume presses, designed mainly  
for retailers who want immediate visibility 
for a special promotion. This new promotional 
vehicle, in a very large format, has 
significant development potential and 
demonstrates, once again, our ability  
to innovate through established products 
and help our customers achieve greater 
reach for their products, brands and services.   

I AM OPTIMISTIC ABOUT 2013. 
THE YEAR IS SHAPING UP 
BETTER IN TERMS OF 
PROFITABILITY, GIVEN THE 
RAMP-UP OF SYNERGIES,  
THE OPTIMIZATION OF  
THE MEDIA SECTOR COST 
STRUCTURE AND THE PURSUIT 
OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF 
OUR MARKETING ACTIVATION 
STRATEGY.  THE HIGHLIGHT OF 2012, 

WITHOUT QUESTION,  
WAS THE ACQUISITION OF  
THE OPERATIONS OF THE 
PRINTER, QUAD/GRAPHICS 
CANADA, INC. THIS  
TRANSACTION CONFIRMS 
OUR POSITION AS THE 
LARGEST PRINTER  
IN CANADA. 

Well positioned for 2013
We finished fiscal 2012 with a good fourth 
quarter mainly due to the ramp-up of 
synergies generated by the integration of 
Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. and the good 
performance of the Media Sector. In 2012,  
we refined our strategy by executing action 
plans focused on continuous improvement 
of our operating and financial performance. 
Our financial position is excellent as we  
have a strong balance sheet and generate 
significant cash flows, which provides us 
with great flexibility to develop our business. 

I am optimistic about 2013. The year is 
shaping up better in terms of profitability, 
given the ramp-up of synergies, the 
optimization of the Media Sector cost 
structure and the pursuit of the implementation 
of our marketing activation strategy.  
TC Transcontinental is in an excellent 
position to pursue its transformation in  
order to meet all of its customers’  
marketing needs. 

I thank TC Transcontinental’s 9,500 employees 
for all the work they have done over the past 
year. The transformation process requires  
us to mobilize ourselves, to go beyond our 
limits and to embrace innovation. We will 
continue to carry out our transformation and 
strategy in the interests of our four pillars: 
our customers, employees, shareholders 
and the communities in which we operate.

President and Chief Executive 
Officer,

François Olivier 
December 19, 2012
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Reach of   
TC Transcontinental  
in Canada 

88% 
of consumers

Reach of  
TC Transcontinental  
in Quebec 

94% 
of consumers

180 community 
newspapers 
 

6.8 million 
readers

10 daily  
newspapers 
 

426,000 
monthly readers

Métro Halifax  
and Montreal 
 

1.5 million 
monthly readers

24.1 million
Through its portfolio of media  
and marketing solutions,  
TC Transcontinental reaches  
millions of Canadian consumers

21_74116_ANG_P1a 29-53-p115a 120.indd   8 12-12-25   2:20 PM



2012 Annual Report 9TRANSCONTINENTAL

  

+ 30 business  
and consumer 
magazines  

11.9 million 
readers

Geo targeted 
distribution 
 

12.7 million 
households in Canada  

Digital network  
of more than  
3,500 websites 

19.9 million 
unique monthly 
visitors 

Database  
     
                         

6.7 million 
postal addresses

Database  
  
                           

1.1 million 
email addresses

TC Transcontinental 
knows Canadian 
consumers well
A key component of the  
TC Transcontinental marketing 
activation strategy is its 
consumer insight. Since  
the Corporation reaches close  
to 88% of Canadian consumers 
through its multiple platforms,  
it has one of the richest 
databases in the country. 
Consumer behaviours of  
a targeted audience are 
determined by analyzing its  
own databases and cross 
referencing them with other 
databases. This in-depth 
knowledge makes it possible  
for TC Transcontinental to deliver 
the right content at the right  
time on the right channel in  
every stage of the consumer 
purchasing process.

TC Transcontinental uses multiple platforms to reach Canadian consumers  
in French and English from coast to coast. Through its print, Web and social  
media properties, as well as partnerships and distribution of advertising  
material, the Corporation reaches more than 24.1 million consumers.

This broad scope gives TC Transcontinental access to a large number of databases, 
its own and those of its customers, which it can use to analyze consumer profiles, 
trends and behaviours. The ability to analyze consumer data at the pre-purchase, 
purchase and post-purchase stages is a critical component of customer loyalty 
and retention programs. Thanks to the reach of its platforms and its analytical 
capabilities, TC Transcontinental is in the best position to attract, reach and  
retain Canadian consumers.
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TC Transcontinental has built awareness of its own brands, such as Coup de pouce, 
Les Affaires and Canadian Living, among millions of Canadian consumers who look  
to them for information, entertainment and advice. TC Transcontinental has developed 
strong brands in specific communities of interest, namely Business and Finance, 
Fashion and Lifestyle, Food and Kitchen, Health and Wellness, Local Communities, 
Home and Gardening, Leisure and Entertainment, Family Life, 50+, and Sports  
and Outdoors. 

TC Transcontinental also creates premium and targeted content for its customers’ 
brands. Relevant content in French and English can be developed for mass markets 
and custom or personalized campaigns. Such content can be deployed in paid media 
(mainly newspapers, magazines and television), owned media (such as company 
magazines, websites, or in-store promotional materials) and earned media (including 
Facebook, Twitter and blogs). 

In addition to creating branded content, TC Transcontinental also offers a wide range 
of related services, namely creative development, photography, writing and video. 

TC Transcontinental 
creates premium and 
targeted content
The pivotal element of the  
TC Transcontinental marketing 
activation strategy is creating 
and managing rich content. 
When it creates premium  
content for its own brands  
and those of its customers,  
TC Transcontinental enhances 
the ability to attract, reach and 
retain the target consumer. 
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PRINT PRODUCTS

INTERACTIVE CHANNELS

MOBILE

WEB

DOOR-TO-DOOR DISTRIBUTION 

POINT-OF-SALE MATERIALS

EVENTS

TELEVISION
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TC Transcontinental can deliver content through traditional print media such  
as magazines, newspapers, books, retail flyers and marketing products. It can also 
offer a comprehensive set of distribution services, from direct mail to door-to-door 
delivery, through Publisac in Quebec and Targeo in the rest of Canada. More recently,  
it started to produce TV shows to promote its own brands and those of its customers.

Complementing more traditional modes of communication, TC Transcontinental  
can also deliver content through digital and interactive channels such as email 
marketing, e-flyers, social media and promotional websites. Moreover, since  
mobility, driven by the rise of smartphones, is a fast-growing phenomenon  
that is revolutionizing traditional approaches to marketing, TC Transcontinental  
also offers new forms of marketing communication, including mobile apps,  
mobile couponing, mobile advertising and electronic messaging (SMS, MMS).

TC Transcontinental 
offers powerful  
multiplatform  
advertising vehicles
The TC Transcontinental 
marketing activation strategy  
is driven by the ability to push  
a message to a target audience 
and to skilfully deliver it on  
the most appropriate platforms. 
TC Transcontinental creates 
opportunities and tools to 
effectively reach that same 
audience on its multiplatform 
network.
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GENERATING  
SYNERGIES 
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Over the next 18 months,  
generate anticipated synergies of 

$40 million
•  Acquisition and ongoing  

integration of  
Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc.

•  Renewal and expansion of  
multi-year contracts with major  
customers in the retail and  
publishing industries in Canada,  
worth more than $1.75 billion. 

•  Divested black and white 
book printing operations.

TC Transcontinental is the largest  
printer in Canada. The 28 printing  
plants in its state-of-the-art network 
mainly produce retail flyers, magazines, 
newspapers, four-colour books and 
personalized and mass marketing 
materials. The Printing sector has  
close to 5,500 employees and  
accounts for 68% of the Corporation’s 
consolidated revenues.

Printing Sector 
Adjusted Operating Income (1)

(in millions of dollars) 
  2011        2012

200,9

Printing Sector Revenues 
(in millions of dollars) 

  2011        2012

 $1,481

$200

$1,374

$198

INCREASE IN REVENUES

(1)  Please refer to the section «Reconciliation of non-IFRS 
Financial Measures» on page 42.

+8%
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The highlights of the Printing Sector in fiscal 2012 were the acquisition  
of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc., completed on March 1st, 2012, the renewal and 
expansion of several multi-year agreements with major Canadian retailers  
and publishers, and the divestiture of black and white book printing operations, 
considered a less strategic fit for the Corporation.
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Acquisition of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc.
The acquisition of six printing plants  
(two in Quebec, two in Ontario, one in 
Alberta and one in Nova Scotia), mainly in 
the retail flyer niche, and a premedia centre 
in Ontario, from Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. 
added about $200 million to annualized 
revenues and is expected to generate  
at least $40 million in net incremental 
EBITDA. On a revenue basis, it represents  
the largest acquisition in the history  
of Transcontinental Inc.

With this acquisition, the Corporation will  
be able to leverage the over $700 million  
it invested in its printing platform in recent 
years. As a result of this transaction,  
TC Transcontinental Printing used the 
opportunity to further reorganize its  
print operations across Canada. It focused 
on the most efficient equipment in order  
to integrate the acquired printing plants  
and reallocate production.

Contract renewals
In the midst of the Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. 
acquisition, the Corporation began earlier, 
and even accelerated, the renewal process 
of several agreements with retailers, 
including Canadian Tire, Métro and Walmart. 
These contracts, which have terms of up to 
six years, are worth more than $1.5 billion. 
In addition, the contracts to print Rogers 
Communications’ magazines and marketing 
products were extended to 2019 and are 
now worth up to $250 million. These  
agreements are a testament to the solid 
relationships TC Transcontinental has with 
its customers. They also demonstrate the 
success of its integrated marketing strategy, 
since in addition to services such as printing 
and door-to-door distribution, the contracts 
often include new digital or interactive 
products and services such as digital 
advertising representation, e-flyers, data 
analytics and mobile solutions. Furthermore, 
these agreements secure a significant 
portion of the Corporation’s cash flows  
for years to come.

Divestitures 
Over the last few years, TC Transcontinental 
exited over $300 million of printing 
businesses because they were either 
non-core for the Corporation, had poor long 
term growth prospects or were expected to be 
more impacted by technology. In fiscal 2012, 
TC Transcontinental took new steps  
to reorganize its printing plant network  
in order to increase its manufacturing 
efficiency and utilization rate. In line  
with its strategic decision to focus on 
specific niches, the Corporation sold  
its black and white book printing  
operations of Transcontinental Gagné   
and Transcontinental Metrolitho printing 
plants. It is now concentrating on printing 
full-colour textbooks, on web presses,  
for the North American market. These 
products are less likely to be replaced in  
the short term by electronic versions. 

Outlook
TC Transcontinental expects its  
Printing Sector results to improve in 2013 
when the synergies from the acquisition  
of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. start  
ramping up more significantly.
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CAPTURE  
NEW  
REVENUE  
STREAMS
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CAPTURE  
NEW  
REVENUE  
STREAMS

Media Sector 
Adjusted Operating Income(1)

(in millions of dollars) 
  2011        2012

$62

$54 

Media Sector Revenues 
(in millions of dollars) 

  2011        2012

$712 

$697

New revenue streams total  
close to  

$200 million
•  Expanded the reach of its  

digital network, primarily  
through the acquisition of a  
majority interest in Redux Media.

•  Enriched its content by buying  
all of the shares of the daily  
newspaper Métro in Montreal, 
among other things.

•  Increased deployment  
capabilities by starting  
television production activities.

TC Media is the leading provider  
of media and marketing activation 
solutions in Canada. The content it 
creates primarily for local communities, 
women and the business community, 
as well as for its customers, is delivered 
on multiple platforms that include 
magazines, television, digital and 
interactive media, newspapers and 
distribution by Publisac in Quebec and 
Targeo in the rest of Canada. TC Media  
is also a publisher of educational 
resources and consumer books.  
The Media Sector has close to  
4,000 employees and accounts  
for 32% of the Corporation’s  
consolidated revenues.

INCREASE IN NUMBER  
OF UNIQUE MONTHLY  
VISITORS

(1)  Please refer to the section «Reconciliation of non-IFRS 
Financial Measures» on page 42.

+76%

21_74116_ANG_P1a 29-53-p115a 120.indd   19 12-12-25   2:21 PM



2012 Annual Report20 TRANSCONTINENTAL

In fiscal 2012, the Media Sector further invested in the development of its digital 
and interactive solutions, focusing on three areas: broadening its digital network, 
enriching its content and adding new platforms, including television production.
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Broadening its digital network 
The Corporation continued to broaden its 
digital offering in 2012, signing agreements 
or partnerships with Cinoche.com, Hearst 
Digital Media, Livestream and Glacier Media, 
and acquiring a majority interest in  
Redux Media. Furthermore, the Corporation 
became the sole shareholder of Réseau Sélect, 
the largest advertising network for 
French-language weeklies in Canada.

Today its digital network reaches close to  
19.9 million unique monthly visitors, up  
76% from 2011. Through its 3,500 websites, 
TC Transcontinental reaches two-thirds  
of Canadian Internet users. 

Enriching its content
In 2012, the addition of Éditions Caractère  
to the Business Information Solutions and 
Education Group enhanced the Corporation’s 
catalogue of educational, professional  
and consumer titles. TC Transcontinental 
also enriched its content, and confirmed  
its leadership position in local content  
in Quebec and the Atlantic provinces,  

by further expanding its network of 
community newspapers. It launched 
Valleyfield Express.ca and acquired  
Tout Magazine, two properties in the 
Montérégie region; it acquired the Courrier 
Frontenac, serving the Thetford Mines area 
and; Édition Beauce, reaching households in 
the Beauce, Les Etchemins and Lotbinière. 
In addition, the Corporation purchased all  
of the shares of the Métro Montreal daily 
newspaper. This transaction makes Métro 
Montreal a preferred provider of local, 
national and international news for all  
TC Media platforms. Also, the launch  
on several platforms of the new brand,  
FRESH JUICE, which benefits from a 
distribution line with Loblaw Companies 
Ltd., provides content on both food and 
healthy living. 

These acquisitions and launches clearly 
strengthen TC Transcontinental’s position  
as one of Canada’s largest media groups.  
By providing enriched and relevant content 
to the communities of interest it serves, i.e., 
local communities, women and business 
communities, the Corporation provides 
advertisers with access to top-quality  
target audiences.

Adding new platforms 
One of the definite highlights of fiscal 2012 
was the addition of television production  
to the TC Transcontinental offering. This 
provides another channel for strengthening 
the visibility of its own brands and those  
of its partners by reaching larger audiences. 
Its television content can be delivered  
on all platforms and uses material from  
the Corporation’s own media properties.  
The Corporation introduced a major daily 
morning show, Ça commence bien!, 
produced at its Montreal studio and 
broadcasted on V, a general interest  
channel in Quebec. TC Transcontinental  
also developed mobile applications, 
including a remote parking payment 
solution, P$ Mobile Service, for Stationnement 
de Montréal, and the On the Table application, 
which answers all sorts of questions about 
food. Furthermore, it launched mobile apps 
for more than 160 community and daily 
newspaper websites owned by the 
Corporation and its partners. 

Adding new platforms is a vital component  
in the growth of TC Transcontinental’s 
integrated multiplatform offering,  
ensuring that it can better meet the  
needs of its customers.

Outlook
Heading into 2013, the TC Transcontinental 
Media Sector is in an excellent position  
to keep evolving in an industry undergoing 
profound change.

21_74116_ANG_P1a 29-53-p115a 120.indd   21 12-12-25   2:21 PM



2012 Annual Report22 TRANSCONTINENTAL

 
 

Excellent financial position 

In fiscal 2012, TC Transcontinental’s revenues increased 6.2%, mainly due to the acquisition  
of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc., which was completed on March 1st and contributed $133.7 million  
to revenues. In terms of profitability, the Corporation recorded several unusual items: a $232.0 million  
asset impairment related to the Media Sector, which was non-cash; a $58.0 million provision for notices  
of re-assessment from tax authorities, which the Corporation is currently contesting; a $57.2 million 
impairment charge for the carrying value of its U.S. deferred tax asset; and $55.0 million in restructuring 
and other costs mostly related to the integration of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. Consequently, net income 
applicable to participating shares was down, from a profit of $120.7 million in fiscal 2011 to a loss  
of $183.3 million in fiscal 2012. However, adjusted net income applicable to participating shares  
only fell by 3.8%.  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue Growth

In fiscal 2012, consolidated revenues for TC Transcontinental  
increased 6.2%, from $1,989.3 million to $2,112.1 million.  
This increase is mainly due to the acquisitions of  
Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. and Redux Media. However,  
growth was mitigated by the incentives granted at the renewal  
of certain printing contracts and by non-recurring revenue  
from the printing contract for the Canadian census in 2011. 

Difficult Market Conditions

In fiscal 2012, TC Transcontinental’s adjusted net income applicable 
to participating shares decreased 3.8% from $155.3 million to  
$149.4 million. This decrease derives primarily from the Media Sector, 
due to the end of the school reform in Quebec, which impacted  
educational book publishing revenues, as well as a soft national 
advertising market. The decrease was mitigated by new printing 
contracts, the synergies from the integration of Quad/Graphics 
Canada, Inc., and the optimization of the operational structure  
of its digital operations.
(1)  Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of non-IFRS Financial Measures” on page 42.

Consolidated Revenues
(in millions of dollars)

  2011        2012

Adjusted Net Income Applicable  
to Participating Shares (1)

(in millions of dollars)
  2011        2012
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TC Transcontinental maintained a strong balance sheet in fiscal 2012. The Corporation continued to benefit 
from an investment grade credit rating. It reduced its debt level and refinanced maturing debt. Given  
the current market dynamics, the Corporation plans to continue its disciplined approach to financial 
management. Cash flow generated by operations before changes in non-cash operating items and income 
taxes paid amounted to $320.8 million. TC Transcontinental took a balanced approach to cash allocation  
by paying dividends to shareholders, repurchasing shares, making acquisitions and investing in capital 
expenditures to ensure future growth.

Strong Balance Sheet

In fiscal 2012, TC Transcontinental maintained a strong balance 
sheet. The adjusted net indebtedness ratio improved from  
1.48x to 1.32x. With respect to cash utilization, the Corporation  
is still prioritizing debt reduction. Debt maturities are spread  
out over the next five years. The most significant debt is  
a term credit facility of $400 million which matures in 2017,  
of which $194.9 million was drawn at October 31, 2012.  
TC Transcontinental does not currently anticipate any difficulties 
refinancing or repaying its debt in the coming years.
(1)  Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of non-IFRS Financial Measures” on page 42.
(2)  Including securitization.

Balanced Allocation of Capital

In fiscal 2012, TC Transcontinental invested in future growth  
by investing a total of $59 million in capital expenditures 
(including intangibles) and making strategic acquisitions  
totalling $13.3 million (excluding 47.1 million that was paid  
to Quad/Graphics following the closing of the transaction to  
acquire the shares of Quad/Graphics Canada Inc.). The Corporation  
paid $53 million in dividends to holders of participating and 
preferred shares, and spent $17 million on share repurchases. 
Finally, it paid $48 million in income taxes, of which the  
major part was for re-assessments which the Corporation  
is currently contesting. 

Adjusted Net Indebtedness and Adjusted  
Net Indebtedness Ratio (1), (2)

(in millions of dollars)

Primary Use of Cash in 2012
(in millions of dollars)
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Governance
Given TC Transcontinental’s shift to digital and interactive 
communications, it made perfect sense to complement the  
existing skill set on the Board of Directors by appointing  
a new member, Alain Tascan, President and Chief Executive  
Officer of Sava Transmedia. Mr. Tascan’s expertise with interactive 
platforms and his high-level strategic background are invaluable 
assets that complement the skill set of other Board members  
and will undoubtedly support the implementation of  
TC Transcontinental’s strategy.

Furthermore, to ensure transparency in the appointments  
of its Directors, and in accordance with new rules adopted  
by the Toronto Stock Exchange, which will come into effect 
December 31st, 2012, Transcontinental Inc. will be electing  
its Directors individually and will communicate the votes  
obtained by each individual.

People
The growth of TC Transcontinental is driven by its employees.  
The Corporation is therefore committed to ensuring they enjoy  
a safe and secure workplace. The occupational health, safety  
and wellness program, Vigilance, achieved excellent results  
in the last few years, decreasing accident frequency and severity 
rates. When the Corporation’s average insurance assessment rates 
are compared to those in the industry, TC Transcontinental’s 
performance is superior.

TC Transcontinental is also committed to investing in the 
well-being of the communities in which it operates. Over the past 
36 years it generously supported many causes. In fact, a portion 
of pre-tax profits are allocated primarily to education and health, 
the two areas prioritized in the Corporate Donations Policy.

TC Transcontinental has 20 years  
of well-established sustainable practices
Since 1993, in accordance with its Environmental Policy,  
TC Transcontinental made it a priority to adopt the best  
environmental practices. In 2010, the Corporation deepened  
its commitment to sustainability by setting objectives and  
targets grouped under four guiding principles. These, along  
with company values, guide its progress with respect to social, 
environmental and financial components within a framework  
of sound governance. TC Transcontinental strives to strike a  
balance among these elements and to be transparent about 
the results achieved. It is committed to keeping the environment  
front and centre as it pursues its business mission while  
protecting the interests of its employees, customers, 
shareholders and the communities in which it operates.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
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Environment
The TC Transcontinental environmental strategy has given rise  
to many initiatives to minimize the ecological footprint of,  
most specifically, its print operations. 

In 2012, the Corporation adjusted its paper purchasing policy.  
In the interests of transparency and to make customers and 
consumers more aware of responsible forest management,  
TC Transcontinental’s goal is to systematically display the  
appropriate chain-of-custody logo on all of its print publications, 
many of which are already printed on certified paper. 

Moreover, to increase the amount of post-consumer fibre available  
in the marketplace, TC Transcontinental will place messages 
promoting the recycling of its print products in its publications.  
The first steps in this process, as well as initial measures to ensure 
that all its publications bear a SFI®, PEFC or FSC® logo to confirm  
they have been printed on certified papers, have already been 
implemented.

Prosperity
To support its positioning in its traditional niches and better  
deliver its integrated marketing products and services solutions,  
TC Transcontinental prudently maintains a disciplined approach  
to financial management. By maintaining low debt levels,  
the Corporation ensures it has the flexibility it needs to respond  
to new market realities. 

TC Transcontinental’s transformation has been driven by the 
proliferation of digital platforms, new trends in media consumption 
and new needs of advertisers. Over the past several years, to develop 
its digital and interactive products and services, the Corporation  
has invested in innovation and made strategic acquisitions.  
With more diversified revenue sources, TC Transcontinental  
is better positioned for growth.

Maintain and improve good 
GOVERNANCE 

Invest in the WELL-BEING  
of its people and communities 

Protect and restore  
ecosystems and optimize  
the use of RESOURCES

Preserve the value  
of the Corporation  
and invest in its GROWTH

guiding principles4
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IFRS Canadian GAAP
(in thousands of dollars, except ratios) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Operations
Revenues  $     2,112.1 $      1,989.3 $     2,028.3 $     2,169.8 $     2,429.3
Adjusted operating income before amortization (2) 357.6 365.4 373.2 338.9 361.5
Operating income (loss) (9.7) 176.3 222.5 (11.8) 14.3
Adjusted operating income (2)  245.2 246.6 249.9 217.1 233.8
Net income (loss) applicable to participating shares (183.3) 120.7 166.6 (82.3) 6.6
Adjusted net income applicable to participating shares (2) 149.4 155.3 155.9 133.5 140.3
Cash flows generated by operating activities  
  before changes in non-cash operating items  
  and income tax paid 

 
 

320.8

 
 

373.0

 
 

311.1

 
 

247.1

 
 

296.9
Cash flows from continuing operations 229.0 331.8 156.0 101.5 284.0

Investing and Financing
Business acquisitions 60.4 35.8 14.0 14.4 67.3
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (including intangibles) 59.3 64.7 149.1 283.9 260.0
Dividends on participating shares 46.0 39.7 28.3 25.8 25.3
Redemption of participating shares 17.3 n/a n/a n/a 48.7

Financial Condition
Total assets 2,136.2 2,360.0 2,594.7 2,531.0 2,615.0
Shareholders’ equity 901.4 1,202.9 1,247.0 1,115.2 1,103.0
Adjusted net indebtedness (2), (3) 470.8 539.4 698.8 903.0 908.0
Corporate credit rating (DBRS) BBB, 

Negative
BBB high, 

Stable
BBB high, 

Stable
BBB high,  

Stable
BBB high,  

Stable
Corporate credit rating (Standard & Poor’s) BBB, 

Negative
BBB,  

Stable
BBB-,  
Stable

BBB-, 
Stable

BBB, 
 Stable

Ratios
Adjusted operating income before amortization margin (2) 16.9% 18.4% 18.4% 15.6% 14.9%
Return on net assets 8.8% 8.7% 8.0% 6.9% 7.7%
Return on average equity 14.2% 13.2% 13.2% 12.0% 12.3%
Adjusted net indebtedness ratio (2) 1.32x 1.48x 1.87x 2.59x 2.64x
Dividend yield on participating shares 5.6% 4.3% 2.5% 2.5% 2.6%
 (1) As previously reported. 
(2) Please refer to the section “Reconciliation of non-IFRS Financial Measures” on page 42. 
(3) Including securitization.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Historical Financial Information (1)

For the years ended October 31 (unaudited)
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
  Trading of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 
(TCL.A on the TSX)

Intraday high $           13.37   $           17.25   $           15.74   $           14.12   $           21.14   
Intraday low $             7.97   $             9.96   $           11.44   $             5.42   $           10.23   
Closing $           10.30   $           12.70   $           15.31   $           12.99   $           12.20   
Total volume 33,453,850 30,625,634 38,252,284 35,510,820 40,965,757
Average daily volume 127,686 122,023 153,009 142,043 162,511

Trading of Class B Shares (TCL.B on the TSX)
Intraday high $           14.00   $           17.09   $           15.62   $           13.75   $           20.93   
Intraday low $             7.92   $             9.72   $           11.01   $             5.47   $           11.70   
Closing $             9.86   $           12.95   $           15.62   $           12.66   $           12.75   
Total volume 116,867 132,942 219,425 787,585 211,623
Average daily volume 1,454 1,228 3,004 7,095 2,178

Trading of Series D Preferred Shares 
(TCL.PR.D on the TSX)

Intraday high $           27.30   $           27.00   $           26.51   $           24.90    n/a 
Intraday low $           24.64   $           23.82   $           24.05   $           24.45    n/a 
Closing $           25.43   $           25.50   $           26.34   $           24.61    n/a 
Total volume 133,499 1,274,436 1,892,865 709,870  n/a 
Average daily volume 5,214 5,117 7,602 35,494  n/a 

Other Statistics
Dividends on participating shares (in millions) $             46.0 $             39.7   $             28.3   $             25.8  $             25.3   
Dividends on preferred shares (in millions) $               6.8 $               6.8   $               7.0    n/a  n/a 
Average number of participating shares outstanding  
(in millions)

 
80.7

 
81.0

 
80.8

 
80.8

 
81.7

Public float (in millions) 71.5 71.8 71.8              67.6               68.8  
Market capitalization (in millions) $              831 $           1,029   $           1,237   $           1,050   $              977   
Enterprise value (in millions) $           1,399 $           1,615  $           2,033  $           1,938  $           1,702  

Share Information
For the years ended October 31
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MANAGEMENT’S  
DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS
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François Olivier Nelson Gentiletti
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial and Development Officer

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transcontinental Inc. are the responsibility of Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation. The financial statements include some amounts that are based on Management’s best estimates using reasonable judgment. The financial statements have been
prepared by Management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

In fulfilling their responsibilities, Management of Transcontinental Inc. and its subsidiaries develop and aim to improve accounting and management systems designed to provide
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and that the financial records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation fulfills its responsibility for the financial statements principally through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee meets with management
and the independent auditors every quarter to discuss the results of the audit, internal controls and financial reporting matters. The independent auditors appointed by the
shareholders have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, with or without the presence of management.

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, and their report follows.
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To the Shareholders of Transcontinental Inc.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditors’ Responsibility

Opinion

Chartered Accountants
Montreal, Canada
December 6, 2012
*FCPA auditor, FCA, public accountancy permit No. A106087

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transcontinental Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at October 31,
2012, October 31, 2011 and November 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended
October 31, 2012 and October 31, 2011, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Transcontinental Inc. as at October 31, 2012,
October 31, 2011 and November 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended October 31, 2012 and October 31,
2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

Notes 2012i 2011ii

Revenues 2,112.1$        1,989.3$        
Operating expenses 4 1,754.5          1,623.9          
Restructuring and other costs 19 55.0               15.1               
Impairment of assets 5 232.0             55.2               
Gain on business acquisition 26 (32.1)              -                 

Operating income before amortization 102.7             295.1             
Amortization 6 112.4             118.8             

Operating income (loss) (9.7)                176.3             
Net financial expenses 7 46.5               45.0               

Income (loss) before income taxes (56.2)              131.3             
Income taxes 8 112.3             31.5               

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (168.5)            99.8               
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 9 (7.4)                28.6               

Net income (loss) (175.9)            128.4             
Non-controlling interests 0.6                 0.9                 
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders of the Corporation (176.5)            127.5             
Dividends on preferred shares, net of related taxes 6.8                 6.8                 
Net income (loss) attributable to participating shares (183.3)$          120.7$           

Net income (loss) per participating share - basic and diluted
Continuing operations 22 (2.18)$            1.14$             
Discontinued operations (0.09)              0.35               

(2.27)$            1.49$             

Weighted average number of participating shares outstanding - basic (in millions) 22 80.7 81.0

Weighted average number of participating shares - diluted (in millions) 22 80.7 81.1

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Notes 2012i 2011ii

Net income (loss) (175.9)$          128.4$           

Other comprehensive loss

Items that will be reclassified to net income (loss): 
Net change related to cash flow hedges

(0.6)                5.3                 

3.9                 (7.6)                
0.9                 (0.5)                
2.4                 (1.8)                

Cumulative translation differences
0.7                 (1.9)                

Items that will not be reclassified to net income (loss):
Changes in actuarial gains and losses in respect of defined benefit pension plans

28 (81.9)              (26.4)              
(22.5)              (6.5)                
(59.4)              (19.9)              

Other comprehensive loss 24 (56.3)              (23.6)              
Comprehensive income (loss) (232.2)$          104.8$           

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Corporation (232.8)$          103.9$           
Non-controlling interests 0.6                 0.9                 

(232.2)$          104.8$           

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Related income taxes

Net gains (losses) on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations

Actuarial losses in respect of defined benefit pension plans
Related income taxes

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Net change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Reclassification of the net change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

in prior periods, recognized in net income (loss) during the period
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Balance as at November 1, 2011 478.1$           1.8$               750.3$           (28.1)$             1,202.1$         0.8$               1,202.9$        
Net income (loss) -                 -                 (176.5)            -                  (176.5)             0.6                 (175.9)            
Other comprehensive loss -                 -                 -                 (56.3)               (56.3)               -                 (56.3)              
Shareholders' contributions and

distributions to shareholders
Participating share redemptions (Note 21) (11.0)              -                 (6.8)                -                  (17.8)               -                 (17.8)              
Exercise of stock options (Note 21) 0.6                 (0.1)                -                 -                  0.5                  -                 0.5                 
Dividends -                 -                 (52.8)              -                  (52.8)               -                 (52.8)              
Stock-option based 

compensation (Note 23) -                 0.8                 -                 -                  0.8                  -                 0.8                 
Balance as at October 31, 2012 467.7$           2.5$               514.2$           (84.4)$             900.0$            1.4$               901.4$           

Balance as at November 1, 2010 477.9$           1.1$               669.3$           (4.5)$               1,143.8$         0.8$               1,144.6$        
Net income -                 -                 127.5             -                  127.5              0.9                 128.4             
Other comprehensive loss -                 -                 -                 (23.6)               (23.6)               -                 (23.6)              
Shareholders' contributions and

distributions to shareholders
Exercise of stock options (Note 21) 0.2                 -                 -                 -                  0.2                  -                 0.2                 
Dividends -                 -                 (46.5)              -                  (46.5)               (0.9)                (47.4)              
Stock-option based 

compensation (Note 23) -                 0.7                 -                 -                  0.7                  -                 0.7                 
Balance as at October 31, 2011 478.1$           1.8$               750.3$           (28.1)$             1,202.1$         0.8$               1,202.9$        

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Attributable to shareholders of the Corporation

Total equityShare capital
Contributed 

surplus
Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
loss Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Notes

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Current assets
Cash 16.8$              75.0$             31.9$             
Accounts receivable 10 449.8              425.5             428.8             
Income taxes receivable 38.9                14.7               19.5               
Inventories 11 82.5                77.2               74.2               
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12 14.7                18.1               19.1               
Current assets related to discontinued operations 9 -                  14.0               41.8               

602.7              624.5             615.3             

Property, plant and equipment 13 651.2              680.4             760.0             
Intangible assets 14 171.5              149.6             179.1             
Goodwill 15 487.0              679.2             674.8             
Deferred income taxes 8 192.6              192.6             189.9             
Other assets 16 31.2                20.2               32.3               
Non-current assets related to discontinued operations 9 -                  13.5               65.1               

2,136.2$         2,360.0$        2,516.5$        

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17 336.8$            287.1$           324.3$           
Provisions 19 15.5                8.6                 15.6               
Income taxes payable 8 50.3                33.5               29.0               
Deferred subscription revenues and deposits 39.3                32.5               38.4               
Current portion of long-term debt 18 283.5              271.9             293.8             
Current liabilities related to discontinued operations 9 -                  7.6                 18.2               

725.4              641.2             719.3             

Long-term debt 18 204.1              292.5             436.9             
Deferred income taxes 8 68.4                120.7             119.0             
Provisions 19 45.3                13.9               15.8               
Other liabilities 20 191.6              88.8               80.2               
Non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations 9 -                  -                 0.7                 

1,234.8           1,157.1          1,371.9          

Equity
Share capital 21 467.7              478.1             477.9             
Contributed surplus 2.5                  1.8                 1.1                 
Retained earnings 514.2              750.3             669.3             
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 24 (84.4)               (28.1)              (4.5)                
Attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 900.0              1,202.1          1,143.8          
Non-controlling interests 1.4                  0.8                 0.8                 

901.4              1,202.9          1,144.6          
2,136.2$         2,360.0$        2,516.5$        

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Notes 2012i 2011ii

Operating activities
Net income (loss) (175.9)$          128.4$           
Less: Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 9 (7.4)                28.6               
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (168.5)            99.8               

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) from continuing operations
and cash flows from operating activities:
Amortization 6 132.9             144.6             
Impairment of assets 5 232.0             55.2               
Gain on business acquisition 26 (32.1)              -                 
Financial expenses on long-term debt 7 27.0               34.6               
Interest on tax contingencies 7 & 8 16.0               -                 
Expenses related to long-term debt prepayment 7 -                 5.8                 
Net loss (gain) on disposal of assets (1.2)                1.2                 
Income taxes 8 112.3             31.5               
Stock-option based compensation 23 0.8                 0.7                 
Other 1.6                 (0.4)                

Cash flows generated by operating activities before changes
in non-cash operating items and income tax paid 320.8             373.0             

Changes in non-cash operating items 25 (43.8)              (21.7)              
Income tax paid (48.0)              (19.5)              
Cash flows from continuing operations 229.0             331.8             
Cash flows from discontinued operations 0.9                 7.2                 

229.9             339.0             

Investing activities
Business combinations 26 (60.4)              (35.8)              
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (37.3)              (47.2)              
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 3.6                 2.6                 
Increase in intangible assets (22.0)              (17.5)              
Cash flows from investments in continuing operations (116.1)            (97.9)              
Cash flows from investments in discontinued operations 10.0               48.8               

(106.1)            (49.1)              

Financing activities
Reimbursement of long-term debt 18 (89.8)              (168.7)            
Net increase in revolving term credit facility 18 11.4               4.4                 
Financial expenses on long-term debt 7 (26.1)              (30.5)              
Expenses related to long-term debt prepayment 7 -                 (4.4)                
Interest on tax contingencies paid 8 (8.1)                -                 
Dividends on participating shares (46.0)              (39.7)              
Dividends on preferred shares (6.8)                (6.8)                
Issuance of participating shares 21 0.5                 0.2                 
Participating share redemptions 21 (17.3)              -                 
Bond forward contract -                 (6.0)                
Cash flows from the financing of continuing operations (182.2)            (251.5)            

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash denominated in foreign currencies 0.2                 0.3                 

Net change in cash (58.2)              38.7               
Cash at beginning of year 75.0               36.3               
Cash at end of year 16.8$             75.0$             

Net change in capital asset acquisitions financed by accounts payable 2.7$               (14.2)$            

Cash includes an amount from discontinued operations of $4.4 million as at November 1, 2010.

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Non-cash investing and financing activities
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

1  GENERAL INFORMATION

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

a) Basis of measurement

b) Basis of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated IFRS financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the following accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, which were measured at their fair value, as indicated in
the following accounting policies. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation, its subsidiaries and joint ventures. The accounting policies described have been applied consistently
by all the subsidiaries and joint ventures.

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Corporation has the power to govern financial and operating policies to benefit from their activities. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are integrated into the Corporation's consolidated financial statements from the date that control is obtained until loss of control. An entity that is fully consolidated
but that is not wholly owned by the Corporation results in a non-controlling interest, which is presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Income and the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position.

Transcontinental Inc. (the "Corporation") is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act. Its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Shares and Cumulative Rate
Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D, are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The Corporation's head office is located at 1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 3315, Montreal, Quebec,
Canada H3B 3N2.

The Corporation conducts business in Canada and the United States in two separate sectors: the Printing Sector and the Media Sector. The Printing Sector includes printing
activities for publishers of magazines, books and newspapers, as well as retail customers. The Media Sector includes the publishing of magazines, newspapers and books, a
diversified digital platform and a door-to-door network for distributing advertising material that allows advertisers to reach consumers directly. The Media Sector also offers interactive
marketing products and services that use new communication platforms supported by marketing strategy and planning services, database analytics, premedia, e-flyers, email
marketing, custom communications and mobile solutions. Also, since April 2012, the Media Sector offers television content creation services that can be delivered on all
communication platforms, from TV channels for general broadcasting to new media, Internet and mobile channels for on-demand delivery.

The Corporation's Board of Directors approved these financial statements on December 6, 2012.

These annual consolidated financial statements reflect first-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB") and, more specifically, in accordance with IFRS 1, "First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards". Since November 1, 2011, IFRSs
replace Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"), as established in Part V of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") Handbook. IFRS
includes International Accounting Standards ("IAS") and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC").

The accounting policies in these annual consolidated financial statements differ from the policies presented in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
October 31, 2011. IFRS 1 has been applied to make the transition to IFRS and prepare the opening consolidated statement of financial position as at November 1, 2010 (the "date of
transition"). This standard provides for retroactive application of IFRS with certain exemptions and exceptions. Note 34, "Transition to IFRS", presents the impact of the changeover
from GAAP to IFRS. Moreover, it presents a reconciliation of the consolidated financial position as at November 1, 2010 and as at October 31, 2011, a reconciliation of the
consolidated statement of income and consolidated cash flows for the year ended October 31, 2011, as well as a reconciliation of the equity as at November 1, 2010 and as at
October 31, 2011. Certain information has also been reclassified or added to comply with IFRS disclosure requirements.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Holding
Transcontinental Printing 2007 Inc. (Quebec) 100.0             %
Transcontinental Printing Inc. (Canada) 100.0             
Transcontinental Printing 2005 G.P. (Quebec) 100.0             
Transcontinental Printing Corporation (Delaware) 100.0             
Transcontinental Interactive Inc. (Canada) 100.0             
Transcontinental Media Inc. (Quebec) 100.0             
Transcontinental Media G.P. (Quebec) 100.0             

ii) Joint ventures

d) Revenue recognition

When it sells goods, the Corporation recognizes revenues when the following conditions have been satisfied:
•
•
•
•
•

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation holds the following significant subsidiaries:

In the case of a business acquisition of less than 100%, a non-controlling interest is measured, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquiree. The basis of measurement is decided on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, less the estimated amount of discounts and other similar reductions granted to customers.

the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred;
the Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement nor effective control over the goods sold;
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation;

Joint ventures are entities over which the Corporation has contractually agreed shared control and for which strategic financial and operational decisions require unanimous
consent. The Corporation's interests in joint ventures are mainly in the Media Sector, and are proportionately consolidated. The effect of these joint ventures on the Corporation's
consolidated financial statements is not significant.

c) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, and their operating results are included in the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition date.
The consideration transferred is the total fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred or assumed by the Corporation and contingent considerations,
on the acquisition date, in exchange for control of the acquired entity. The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is recognized as goodwill. If the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the consideration transferred, the excess is recognized as gain on
business acquisition in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

If the agreement includes a contingent consideration, it is measured at fair value as of the acquisition date and added to the consideration transferred, and a liability for the same
amount is recognized. Any subsequent change to the fair value of the contingent consideration will be recognized in the acquisition cost, if it is related to adjustments during the
measurement period, or in profit or loss, if it is related to adjustments after the measurement period. The measurement period is the period from the acquistion date to the date on
which the Corporation has received complete information on the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. This period has a maximum duration of
12 months.

The transaction costs attributable to the acquisition are recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred.

If the initial recognition of the business combination is incomplete when the disclosures are issued for the period during which the acquisition occured, the Corporation presents
provisional amounts for the items for which measurement is incomplete. Adjustments to the original recognition of the business combination will be recorded as an adjustment to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the measurement period. Adjustments after the measurment period will be recognized in profit or loss.

the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured.

          62     2012 Annual Report2012 Annual Report62 TRANSCONTINENTAL

21_74116_ANG_P54 a 114.indd   62 12-12-25   1:20 PM



Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

When rendering services, the Corporation recognizes revenues when the following conditions have been satisfied:
•
•
•
•

i)

ii)

Advertising revenues:

Subscription revenues:

Distribution revenues:

Newsstand revenues:

Book revenues:

Publishing, content preparation and marketing project revenues:

Custom publication revenues:

Revenues for the use of computerized tools:

Television broadcasting revenues:

In the Printing Sector, printing is the main source of revenue. Printing revenue is recognized when the products are shipped or delivered, in accordance with the customer
agreement.

Media sector revenues are recognized as follows:

Advertising revenues are recognized at the publication date in the case of a daily or weekly publication, at the date of issue in the case of a monthly publication and at the
broadcast date for a television program.

Subscription revenues are recognized using the straight-line method, based on subscription terms, which represent the period during which the services are provided.
Accordingly, amounts received are recorded in deferred subscription revenues, and subsequently transferred to income based on the length of term of the subscription.

Door-to-door distribution revenues are recognized at the delivery date of the advertising material.

Newsstand revenues are recognized at the time of delivery, net of a provision for returns.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
the stage of completion of the activity can be reliably measured;
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation;
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured.

e) Exchange transactions
In the normal course of business, the Corporation offers advertising in exchange for goods or services. The related revenues are measured at the fair value of the goods and
services received or given when the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be reliably measured. For the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation recognized an
amount of $10.3 million as exchange transactions ($9.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2011).

f) Income taxes
The Corporation records income taxes using the liability method of accounting. Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred taxes. It is recognized in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

Book revenues are recognized when the books are shipped to customers, net of a provision for returns.

Publishing, content preparation and marketing project revenues are recognized based on the percentage of completion, in accordance with the customer agreement.

Custom publication revenues are recognized when products are shipped or delivered, or when services are provided, in accordance with the customer agreement. Revenues for
updating digital publications are recognized based on the percentage of completion.

Revenues for the use of computerized tools are recognized based on usage, storage space or reports generated, in accordance with the customer agreement. Revenues billed
also consider volume discounts.

Revenues from the sale of television content broadcasting rights are recognized over the broadcast period.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

i) Current tax

ii) Deferred tax

20-40 years

3-15 years
3-15 years
2-5 years

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the period's taxable income, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the financial statements,
and any adjustment to tax expense or recovery in respect of previous years. Taxable income differs from the income reported on the Consolidated Statement of Income due to
items of income and expense that are taxable or deductible during other periods, or items that will never be taxable, or deductible.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first in, first out method, and includes the acquisition costs of materials and
manufacturing costs, such as direct labour and a portion of manufacturing overhead.

j) Supplier rebates
The Corporation records supplier rebates as a reduction in the price of products or services received, and reduces operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income
and related inventory in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. These rebates are estimated based on anticipated purchases.

k) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The cost includes expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the
property, plant and equipment. The costs, such as borrowing costs incurred directly for the acquisition or construction of property, plant and equipment, are capitalized until the asset
is ready for its intended use, and are amortized over the useful life of the related asset. Property, plant and equipment under construction is not amortized as long as it has not been
put in service.

Property, plant and equipment are amortized on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Deferred tax is determined on the basis of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and is measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the
financial statements. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it
is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of
goodwill. The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each period and a reduction to the carrying amount is recognized when it is probable that these
assets will not be realized.

g) Government assistance
Investment tax credits related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets are recorded as a reduction in the cost of the underlying asset. Investment tax
credits related to operating expenses are recorded as a reduction of these costs. Government assistance related to publishing activities is recorded as a reduction to publishing
costs.

h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank overdraft and highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months.

i) Inventories

Major parts of property, plant and equipment with different useful lives are accounted for as separate components of the asset, and amortized over their respective useful lives.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if applicable, at each reporting date.

Buildings
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease
Machinery and equipment
Machinery and equipment under finance leases
Other equipment
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

i) Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination

ii) Internally generated intangible assets

Method

Straight-line
2-5 years Straight-line
3-5 years Straight-line

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l) Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered mainly through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as
held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of the disposal group, are re-measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value
less cost to sell. Any impairment losses on a disposal group is allocated to goodwill, then to other assets and liabilities pro rata on the basis of their carrying amounts. However, no
impairment losses are allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or employee benefit assets, which continue to be valued in accordance with the Corporation's
accounting policies. Any impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or subsequent gain or loss on re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss. Gains on re-
measurement, which exceed the cumulative impairment losses, are not recognized.

m) Discontinued operations

Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at fair value upon the acquisition date, and subsequently recognized at cost less any accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Internally generated intangible assets consist of book prepublication costs and long-term technology project costs. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset includes
all the directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Expenses incurred in
research activities are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Expenses incurred in development activities are also expensed in the period in which they are incurred,
except if they meet all the criteria for capitalization. The initial amount recognized as an internally generated intangible asset is equal to the sum of expenditures incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria.

Following initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized according to the following methods and estimated useful lives:

Term / Rate

A discontinued operation is a component of the Corporation's activities that represents a significant and distinct line of business or geographical area of operations that the
Corporation has disposed of or has classified as held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs on disposal or on the date on which the operation meets the criteria
for classification as held for sale, whichever comes first. When an operation is classified as discontinued, comparative Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income are
presented as if the operations were discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.

n) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the leased property are transferred to the lessee. Other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Property, plant and equipment held under a finance lease is initially recognized at the lesser of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
leased item is then recognized in the same manner as other, similar assets held by the Corporation. The related liability payable to the lessor is recorded as a debt resulting from a
finance lease and a finance charge is recognized in profit or loss for the duration of the lease.

Operating leases are recorded to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

o) Intangible assets

Acquired printing contracts Term of the contract
Non-compete agreements
Long-term technology project costs

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if applicable, on each reporting date.

Customer relationships 10%-25% Declining balance
Book prepublication costs Maximum 7 years Based on historical sales patterns
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

iii) Goodwill

i) Restructuring

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The recoverable amount of a CGU (or CGU group) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is determined by discounting estimated future
cash flows, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current assessments of the market, of the time value of money and of the risks specific to the CGU (or CGU group). Fair
value less costs to sell is determined using an EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) multiple of comparable companies operating in similar
industries for each CGU (or CGU group).

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset, a CGU (or CGU group) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in
profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or CGU group), and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (or CGU group) on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Previously impaired assets are
reassessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

q) Contract acquisition costs
Contract acquisition costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the related contract term, as reductions of revenues. Whenever changes occur that impact the related
contract, including significant declines in anticipated profitability, the Corporation evaluates the realizable value of the contract acquisition costs to determine whether impairment has
occured. These costs are included in other assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

r) Provisions

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized and consist of trade names, mainly from acquired magazines and newspapers, and their related circulation. The value
attributed to a trade name is based on the reputation that a publication has built historically. Given that this value is not affected by the passage of time, it is impossible to allocate it
systematically over time. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment.

Goodwill is recognized at cost, which represents the amount by which the consideration transferred exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
businesses, and at the cost less accumulated impairment losses thereafter. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized.

p) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Corporation reviews the carrying value of its non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, at each reporting date of the financial statements in order
to determine whether there is an indication of potential impairment.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives (trade names and circulation) acquired in business combinations are allocated to cash generating units ("CGU"),
and assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment. In the presence of such changes, an estimate is made of
the asset's recoverable amount.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, beginning on the acquisition date, to the CGU group that will benefit from the synergies of the combination. For the
purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually for impairment are grouped to form the smallest group of assets that generates, through continuing use,
cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets. Each group of CGU to which goodwill is allocated may not be larger than an operating segment, and
represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored through internal management.

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or implicit obligation arising from past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized as a
provision is the Corporation's best estimate of the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. When the effect of discounting is significant, the amount of the provision is
determined by discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
Corporation's main provisions are related to restructuring costs, onerous real estate contracts, asset retirement obligations and multi-employer plans. Provisions are reviewed on
each reporting date and any changes to estimates are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

A restructuring provision is recorded when the Corporation has a formal and detailed restructuring plan, and a valid expectation has been created among those affected, either
by commencing execution of the plan or by announcing its main characteristics. Future operating losses are not subject to a provision.
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and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ii) Onerous real estate contracts

iii) Asset retirement obligations

iv) Multi-employer plans

i)

ii)

s) Employee benefits
The Corporation offers various contributory and non-contributory defined benefit plans for pension and other post-employment benefits, defined contribution pension plans and
registered savings plans to its employees and those of its participating subsidiaries. Since June 1, 2010, most employees participate only in defined contribution pension plans.

The Corporation participates in multi-employer pension plans accounted for as defined contribution plans. Under IFRS, in accordance with IAS 19 "Employee Benefits", the multi-
employer plans that include implicit obligations are accounted for as defined benefit plans when the Corporation has sufficient information to identify its share of the obligation under
defined benefit, its share of plan assets and costs associated with the plans. The Corporation does not have all the information to be able to recognize these plans as defined benefit
plans, but it has sufficient information to record this obligation as a provision. Contributions to the plans are recognized in profit or loss at the time of delivery of services by
employees.

Defined benefit plans
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment defined benefit plans are established with the assistance of independent actuaries on each reporting date,
using the Projected Unit Cost Method and based on management’s best estimates regarding the expected rate of return of the plans’ investments, salary increases, changes in
health care costs, the retirement age of employees and life expectancies.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An onerous real estate contract provision is recorded when the Corporation has a contract under which it is more likely than not that the unavoidable costs of meeting the
contractual obligations will be greater than the economic benefits that the Corporation expects from the contract. An onerous real estate contract provision represents the lesser
of the cost of exiting from the contract and the cost of fulfilling it.

Legal or constructive obligations linked to restoration of certain buildings are recorded in the period in which they are contracted, when they can be reasonnably estimated. The
obligations are initially measured at fair value using the discounted cash flow method, and are subsequently adjusted for any changes in the initial timing or amounts of the
expected cash flow. Initially, these obligations are capitalized as property, plant and equipment, and then amortized over the useful life of the asset. A liability related to the asset
retirement obligation is also recognized initially, and remeasured over time, due to accretion.

Obligations relating to multi-employer plans are recognized when the amount can be estimated reliably and the Corporation does not have all the information necessary for the
recognition of these plans as defined benefit plans.

Under the defined contribution pension plans, group registered savings plans and state plans, the Corporation makes contributions to the participating employees' plans using a
predetermined percentage of the employees salary and has no legal or implicit obligation to pay additionnal amounts. The cost for these plans is recorded when services are
rendered by employees, which is generally at the same time the contributions are made.

The Corporation's contributions that are paid to state plans are managed by government bodies.

The defined benefit asset (liability) recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation, less the fair value of plan
assets. The value of plan assets is limited to the total of unrecognized past service cost and the present value of the economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. Any surplus is immediately recognized in profit or loss.

A minimum liability is recognized when the minimum statutory financing of past service exceeds the economic benefits available, either as a plan repayment or as a reduction in
future plan contributions.

Net cumulative actuarial gains and losses related to plan assets and the defined benefit obligation, as well as the effect of the limit on the employer's share of the cost of the
future benefits, are recognized in comprehensive income during the period in which they occur.

Past service cost is recognized as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income, to the extent that benefit rights have become vested. Past service cost related to
unvested benefits is deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. Current service cost, the expected return on plan
assets and the accretion of the defined benefit obligation are recognized in profit or loss during the period in which they occur.

Defined contribution pension plans, group registered savings plans and state plans 
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

i)

ii)

iii)

u) Foreign currency translation

v) Financial instruments

Category Subsequent valuation
Cash Loans and receivables Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Accounts receivable, other receivables and other financial assets Loans and receivables Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Investments Available for sale Fair value or cost if there is no quoted market
Accounts payable, other accrued liabilities and other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Derivative financial instruments Held for trading Fair value

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

t) Stock-based compensation
The Corporation offers stock option plans and share unit plans for certain officers, senior executives and directors.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Corporation. The functional currency is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Corporation operates. The functional currency of the operating foreign subsidiaries, with the exception of foreign sales offices of the Canadian
operations, is the U.S. dollar.

Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Corporation or of a foreign subsidiary whose functional currency is the Canadian dollar, are
accounted for using the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. On each reporting date, monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate prevailing on that date, and non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are not adjusted. Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the
period during which they occur.

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars by applying the exchange rate prevailing as
at the reporting date. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income
under "Cumulative translation differences" and are accumulated in equity. The accumulated amount of exchange differences is reclassified in net income upon disposal or partial
disposal of an interest in a foreign operation.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent valuation is dependent on their classification. Their classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial instruments were acquired or issued, their characteristics and the Corporation's designation of such instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified and subsequently valued as follows:

Transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability are capitalized to the cost of financial assets and liabilities when they are not classified as
held for trading. Thus, issuance costs of long-term debt are classified as a reduction in long-term debt, and amortized using the effective interest rate method.

Stock option plan
Stock options are valued at fair value at the time they are granted using the Black-Scholes model, and are recognized to income on a straight-line basis at a rate of 25% per
year, which is the period over which the rights on the options vest, and according to the Corporation's estimate of the number of options that will vest. On each reporting date,
the Corporation reviews its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest and recognizes the impact of this review in profit or loss as required.

Share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives
Compensation costs related to share unit plans for certain officers and senior executives are recognized on a straight-line basis over the three-year vesting period, either on the
achievement of performance targets for the units related to performance, or on tenure for other units. The liability for these units is remeasured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Any changes in the fair value is recognized in profit or loss. At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation reviews its estimate of the number of units
expected to vest, and recognizes the impact in profit or loss when applicable.

Share unit plan for directors
Compensation costs related to share units for directors are recognized at the time they are granted. These units are initially measured at fair value based on the trading price of
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation, and are revalued at the end of each reporting period, until settlement. Any changes in fair value are recognized in profit or
loss.

Changes in fair value of financial instruments held for trading are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income in the appropriate period. Changes in fair value of financial
instruments designated as cash flow hedges are recorded, for the effective portion, in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the appropriate period until their
realization, after which they are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

x) Critical judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty

i)

ii)

When hedging instruments mature or become ineffective before their maturity, any gains, losses, revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument that had previously
been recognized in other comprehensive income as a result of applying hedge accounting are carried forward to be recognized in net income in the period during which the asset
acquired or liability incurred affects net income. If the hedged item ceases to exist due to its maturity, expiry, cancellation or exercise before the hedging instrument expires, any
gains, losses, revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive income as a result of applying hedge
accounting are recognized in the reporting period's net income along with the corresponding gains, losses, revenues or expenses recognized on the hedged item.

Derivative financial instruments offering economic hedging without being eligible for hedge accounting are accounted for at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in profit or
loss. The Corporation does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Corporation's management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities on the reporting date, and amounts of revenues and expenses for the relevant period. Although
management regularly reviews its estimates, actual results may differ. The impact of changes to accounting estimates is recognized in the period during which the change occurs,
and in the affected future periods, when applicable. Areas in which the estimates and assumptions are significant or which are complex, are as follows:

Business combinations
Determination of fair value associated with identifiable intangible assets following a business combination requires management to make assumptions. More specifically, this is
the case when the Corporation calculates fair values internally using appropriate valuation techniques, which are generally based on a prediction of expected future cash flows.
These valuations are closely related to the assumptions made by management about the future return on the related assets and the discount rate applied. Significant changes to
these assumptions could significantly change the fair values associated with identifable intangible assets following a business combination. Accordingly, such changes could
result in the recognition of an impairment loss, which is recognized in the period in which the changes occur, as required.

Impairment of non-financial assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Corporation identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks related to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates in order to minimize the effect on its results and
financial position, using derivative financial instruments for which parameters have been defined and approved by the Board of Directors. If the Corporation did not use derivative
financial instruments, exposure to market volatility would be greater.

When applying hedge accounting, the Corporation formally documents the relationship between the financial instruments and the hedged items, as well as its objective and risk
management strategy underlying its hedging activities, as well as the methods that will be used to assess hedge effectiveness. This process includes linking all derivative financial
instruments designated as a hedge to specific assets and liabilities, firm commitments or specific anticipated transactions.

At the inception of the hedging relationship and throughout its duration, the Corporation must have reasonable assurance that the relationship will remain effective and in accordance
with its risk management objective and strategy as initially documented. The effectiveness of the hedging relationship must be confirmed at each reporting date. The effective portion
of the hedging relationship, and the effective portion of changes in fair value of the derivative, are recognized in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The effective portion of the currency risk hedging relationship related to future purchases of production equipment, deferred in
accumulated other comprehensive income, is reclassified against the production equipment at its initial recognition. The effective portion of the currency risk hedging relationship
related to interest and capital payments is reclassified to income during the period in which the hedged item affects earnings.

As part of assessing goodwill, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for impairment, the recoverable value of a CGU is determined using a complex valuation
method that requires the use of a number of methods, including the discounted future cash flow method and the market-based method.

When a method based on discounted future cash flow is used, cash flow projections are made for the next three years, based on past experience, and represent management's
best estimate of future results. Beyond this period, no growth is applied to the cash flows. The recoverable value of a CGU is also influenced by the discount rate used in the
model, the growth rate used to make the extrapolation, the average weighted cost of capital and tax rates.

When a market-based method is used, the Corporation estimates the fair value of the CGU by multiplying the normalized results before amortization, interest and taxes by a
multiple that is based on market data.

These methods rely on numerous assumptions and estimates that may have a significant impact on the recoverable value of a CGU, and thereby, on the amount of impairment,
if any. The impact of material changes in assumptions and the review of estimates is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes occur or the estimates are
reviewed, as required.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

iii)

iv)

v)

vi)

vii)

viii)

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. Determination of an amount for provisions requires that management make assumptions and estimates of discount rates,
projected costs and timelines, and the probability of occurence of the obligations. Material changes to these assumptions may significantly change the amounts determined as
provisions. The impact of such changes is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes occur, as required.

Income taxes
In the calculation of current tax, the Corporation is required to make significant estimates due to the fact that it is subject to tax laws of the many jurisdictions in which it operates.
Similarly, the amount of current tax may change as a result of various factors, such as future events, changes in income tax laws or the outcome of reviews by tax authorities
and related appeals.

In the calculation of deferred tax, estimates must be used to determine the appropriate rates and amounts and to take into account the probability of their occurence. Deferred
income tax assets also reflect the benefit of unutilized tax losses that can be carried forward to reduce income taxes in future years. This assessment requires the Corporation to
exercise significant judgments in determining whether or not it is probable that the deferred income tax assets can be recovered from future taxable income and therefore, that
they can be recognized in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. The Corporation relies, among other things, on its past experience to apply its judgment.

Once the final amounts have been determined, they may result in adjustments to current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leases
For leases, the Corporation needs to assess if all risks and rewards of ownership of the leased property are transfered to the lessee. This assessment enables to classify the
lease, either as an operating lease or as a finance lease, and to determine the proper recognition in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. During this process, the
Corporation relies on the clauses of the lease and on other economic factors to apply its judgment.

Foreign currency translation
In determining the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries, the Corporation needs to evaluate different factors such as the currency that mainly influences sales prices and
costs, the economic environment and the degree of autonomy of the subsidiary. Following the evaluation of the different factors, when the functional currency is not obvious, the
Corporation uses its judgment to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

Employee benefits
The costs of defined benefit pension plans and the defined pension benefit assets (liabilities) are valued using actuarial methods. Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions
such as discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, compensation growth rates and mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of these obligations, these estimates are
subject to significant uncertainty. Management reviews these assumptions annually and the impact of the review is recognized in the Statement of Financial Position and in
comprehensive income in the period in which the estimates are reviewed, as required.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS also requires management to make judgments, other than those involving estimations, in the process of applying
the Corporation's accounting policies. Areas in which judgments are significant are as follows:

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, beginning on the acquisition date, to the CGU group that will benefit from the synergies of the combination. During this
process, the Corporation applies judgment based on the objectives aimed in the business acquisition and on how it manages business. Application of a different judgment could
lead to a different result in regards with the annual impairment test of non-financial assets.

The Corporation also uses its judgment to determine whether an impairment test must be performed due to the presence of potential impairment indicators. In applying its
judgment, the Corporation relies primarily on its knowledge of its business and the economic environment.
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3  FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Financial instruments

b) Consolidated financial statements

c) Joint arrangements

d) Disclosure of interests in other entities

e) Fair value measurement

f) Employee benefits

g) Financial Instruments: Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following new accounting standards were not early adopted by the Corporation. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of these new standards on its consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement". IFRS 13 improves consistency and reduces complexity by providing a specific definition of fair value. IFRS 13
therefore replaces the guidance on measurement of fair value contained in individual IFRS with a single source of guidance on all measurements of fair value. IFRS 13 will apply to
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and earlier application is permitted.

In June 2011, the IASB issued an amended version of IAS 19, "Employee Benefits", in order to reflect significant changes in the recognition and measurement of the defined benefit
pension expense and termination benefits. Under the amended IAS 19, the use of the "corridor" approach, under which the recognition of actuarial gains and losses could be
deferred, has been eliminated. The amended IAS 19 introduces a new approach to calculating and presenting net interest expense on defined benefit liabilities (assets), under which
the return on the asset will be identical to the rate used to discount the liability. The amended IAS 19 will apply to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and earlier
application is permitted.

In December 2011, the IASB issued amended versions of IFRS 7, "Financial Instruments: Disclosures" and IAS 32, "Financial Instruments: Presentation", to clarify the requirements
for offsetting financial instruments and to require new disclosures on the effect of offsetting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The amended IFRS 7 will be applied
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The amended IAS 32 will be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2014, and earlier application is permitted.

In October 2010, the IASB issued IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments", the first part of a three-part project to replace IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" and
IFRIC 9, "Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives". This first part covers classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, and impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting will be addressed in the other two parts.

In order to determine whether a financial asset should be measured at amortized cost or fair value, IFRS 9 uses a single approach that replaces the multiple measurement and
category models established by IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, determination is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments and the characteristics of the contractual cash
flows of its financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward to IFRS 9. However, requirements
concerning measurement of financial liabilities at fair value have changed; the portion of changes in fair value related to the entity's own credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income rather than in the Consolidated Statement of Income. IFRS 9 will apply to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, and earlier application is
permitted.

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, "Consolidated Financial Statements", intended to replace IAS 27, "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements" and SIC-12,
"Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities". IFRS 10 defines the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included in the basis of consolidation in
another entity's consolidated financial statements. IFRS 10 will apply to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and earlier application is permitted.

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, "Joint Arrangements", intended to replace IAS 31, "Interests in Joint Ventures" and SIC-13, "Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary
Contributions by Venturers". IFRS 11 deals with the contractual rights and obligations inherent in a joint arrangement, rather than the legal form of the arrangement. IFRS 11
eliminates the election to use the proportionate consolidation method when recognizing interests in jointly controlled entities, and requires the use of the equity method. IFRS 11 will
apply to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and earlier application is permitted.

Currently, the Corporation uses the proportionate consolidation method to recognize interests in joint ventures, but will have to apply the equity method under IFRS 11. Under this
method, the Corporation's share of the net assets, net income and other comprehensive income in the joint ventures will be presented in a single line item in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Income and the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, respectively.

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities". IFRS 12 complements the disclosure requirements concerning interests that an entity holds in
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and consolidated structured entities. The standard requires an entity to disclose information regarding the nature and risks associated with all
its interests in other entities and the effect of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows. IFRS 12 will apply to annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013, and earlier application is permitted.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
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4  OPERATING EXPENSES

2012i 2011ii

Employee-related costs 686.7$           650.6$           
Supply chain and logistics (1) 940.2             858.8             
Other goods and services (2) 127.6             114.5             

1,754.5$        1,623.9$        

5  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

2012i 2011ii

Property, plant and equipment 1.3$               3.9$               
Intangible assets 20.7               20.3               
Goodwill 210.0             31.0               

232.0$           55.2$             

Intangible assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Operating expenses by major heading are as follows for the years ended October 31:

During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation performed its annual impairment test on intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. The Corporation has concluded that
the recoverable amount of certain CGUs of the Local Solutions Group in the Media sector, determined on the basis of value in use, was less than its carrying amount due to a
decline in profitability. The Corporation therefore recorded a $13.5 million impairment charge on trade names and circulation of certain publications of these CGUs.

During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation recorded a $7.2 million impairment charge on intangible assets with a finite useful life, mainly due to a decline in the value
in use of long-term technology project costs of the Media Sector’s Content Solutions Group and Digital Solutions Group.

(1) "Supply chain and logistics" includes production and distribution costs related to external suppliers. 

(2) "Other goods and services" includes mainly promotion, advertising and telecommunications costs, office supplies, real estate expenses and professional fees. Operating leases
recognized for the year ended October 31, 2012 represent $25.5 million ($24.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2011). Subleasing revenues recognized for the year ended
October 31, 2012 were $1.4 million ($0.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2011).

The amount of inventory recognized in operating expenses for the year ended October 31, 2012 was $1,117.3 million ($1,003.9 million for the year ended October 31, 2011). An
amount of $0.9 million was recognized as inventory obslescence expense for the year ended October 31, 2012 ($1.0 million for the year ended October 31, 2011).

During the year ended October 31, 2011, the Corporation had recorded a $5.7 million impairment charge on customer relationships and a $2.6 million impairment charge on long-
term technology project costs, mainly related to Content Solutions Group and Digtal Solutions Group in the Media sector. The Corporation had also recorded a $12.0 million
impairment charge on trade names and circulation of certain publications of the Local Solutions Group in the Media sector, specifically in the Newspaper Division of the Atlantic
provinces and Saskatchewan.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

5  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

6  AMORTIZATION

2012i 2011ii

Property, plant and equipment 98.2$             100.6$           
Intangible assets 14.2               18.2               

112.4             118.8             
Intangible assets and other assets, recognized in revenues and operating expenses 20.5               25.8               

132.9$           144.6$           

The key assumptions used by the Corporation to perform impairment tests are as follow:

Growth
For the purpose of calculating value in use, future cash flows are based on the three-year financial plan approved by management, which has been adjusted to reflect the most
recent information available, with no growth factor having been applied after three years. In developing the forecasts, the Corporation considered past experience, certain economic
trends and industry and market trends.

Discount rate
For the purpose of calculating value in use, the Corporation used pre-tax discount rates varying between 16.00% and 23.00%. The discount rate represents the weighted average
cost of capital ("WACC") for comparable companies operating in similar industries as the applicable CGU or CGU group. The WACC is an estimate of the overall rate of return
required by debt and equity holders on their investments. Determining the WACC requires analyzing the cost of equity and debt separately, and takes into account a risk premium
that is based on the applicable CGU or CGU group.

Tax rate

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation performed its annual goodwill impairment test. The Corporation concluded that the recoverable amount, determined on the
basis of fair value less costs to sell for the CGU groups of the Business and Consumer Solutions Group and the Book Publishing Group, and determined on the basis of value in use
for the CGU group of the Local Solutions Group, were lower than their carrying amounts.

The Corporation therefore recorded a $210.0 million goodwill impairment charge during the year ended October 31, 2012. An impairment charge of $100.6 million was recorded in
the CGU group of the Business and Consumer Solutions Group due to a decline in national advertising, and due to the adoption in 2012 of new rates concerning contributions by
businesses to cover the costs incurred by Quebec municipalities regarding waste recovery services of residual materials, which had a negative impact on operating costs, and
consequently on operating income of this CGU group. An impairment charge of $89.0 million was recorded in the CGU group of the Local Solutions Group due to a decline in
national advertising, particularly outside Quebec, and increased competition within Quebec, which had a negative impact on the operating income of this CGU group. An impairment
charge of $20.4 million was also recorded in the CGU group of the Book Publishing Group due to the end of educational reform in Quebec’s high school education program. These
impairment losses had no effect on the Corporation’s activities, on cash or on meeting the requirements of debt covenants.

During the year ended October 31, 2011, the Corporation had recorded a $31.0 million goodwill impairment charge, mainly related to the Digital Solutions Group in the Media sector,
due to lower profitability.

For the purpose of calculating value in use, the Corporation used income tax rates varying between 26.00% and 26.90% based on the effective rates for the entities comprising the
applicable CGU groups.

The Corporation performed a sensitivity analysis of the discount rate in its assessment of the recoverable amounts of the CGU groups tested for impairment. The results of the
sensitivity analysis show that a reasonable change to key assumptions would not result in an impairment loss to the other CGU groups for which no impairment loss was required.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

7  NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES

2012i 2011ii

Financial expenses on long-term debt 27.0$             34.6$             
Interest on tax contingencies (Note 8) 16.0               -                 
Expenses related to long-term debt prepayment -                 5.8                 
Other expenses 4.1                 4.8                 
Foreign exchange gain (0.6)                (0.2)                

46.5$             45.0$             

8  INCOME TAXES

2012i 2011ii

Income (loss) before income taxes (56.2)$            131.3$           
Canadian statutory tax rate 27.15             % 28.65             %
Income taxes (recovered) at the statutory tax rate (15.3)              37.6               
Effect of reassessments related to previous years (a) 42.0               -                 
Reduction to the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets (b) 57.2               -                 
Effect of differences in tax rates in other jurisdictions (4.4)                (9.6)                
Income taxes on non-deductible expenses and non-taxable portion of capital gain 30.5               11.0               
Recognition of tax losses or temporary differences not previously recognized 1.5                 (3.4)                
Other 0.8                 (4.1)                
Income taxes at effective tax rate 112.3$           31.5$             

Income taxes include the following items:

Income taxes before the following items: 57.9$             44.4$             
Effect of reassessments related to previous years (a) 42.0               -                 
Reduction to the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets (b) 57.2               -                 
Income taxes on restructuring and other costs (15.4)              (3.4)                
Income taxes on impairment of assets (29.4)              (7.9)                
Income taxes on expenses related to long-term debt prepayment -                 (1.6)                

Income taxes at effective tax rate 112.3$           31.5$             

(a) During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation received notices of reassessment from the federal and provincial tax authorities estimated at $58.0 million, including
applicable interest and penalties to its fiscal years 2006 to 2010. The notices of reassessment relate to deductions on investments in capital assets made by the Corporation, as well
as the interprovincial allocation of income. The Corporation recorded an expense of $58.0 million with respect to these matters, of which $16.0 million was included in financial
expenses and $42.0 million in income taxes, even though the Corporation contests these notices of reassessment. Consequently, the outcome of this dispute could favorably
influence the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation. The Corporation paid an amount of $31.6 million with respect to the notices of
reassessment received. Notices of objection have also been filed with the relevant tax authorities.

(b) During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation recorded a $57.2 million reduction to the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets in the United States related to
a decrease in our activities in the United States.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table is a reconciliation of income taxes at the Canadian statutory tax rate and income taxes at the effective tax rate for the years ended October 31:
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

8  INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

2012i 2011ii

Current year 11.6$             33.8$             
Adjustment resulting from reassessments related to previous years 42.0               -                 
Change in the use of temporary differences (20.0)              -                 
Adjustment for previous years 1.7                 (2.4)                

35.3               31.4               

Change in the use of temporary differences 20.0               -                 
Adjustment for previous years 0.4                 1.8                 
Increase related to other temporary differences (3.5)                4.1                 
Reduction to the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets 57.2               -                 
Recognition of tax losses or temporary differences not previously recognized 1.5                 (3.4)                
Impact of tax rate changes or the imposition of taxes in new jurisdictions 1.4                 (2.4)                

77.0               0.1                 
Income taxes 112.3$           31.5$             

Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability 

Loss carryforwards 125.8$           -$               130.1$            -$                119.1$           -$               
Inventories -                 7.7                 -                  6.3                  -                 5.1                 
Property, plant and equipment -                 63.2               -                  51.1                -                 35.5               
Intangible assets and goodwill -                 22.8               -                  43.0                -                 39.3               
Other assets 14.0               -                 -                  4.3                  2.1                 -                 
Long-term debt -                 14.2               -                  17.4                -                 10.3               
Provisions 59.3               -                 45.0                -                  24.6               -                 
Transitional provision for partnerships -                 13.0               -                  -                  -                 -                 
Defined benefit pension plans 46.4               -                 19.2                -                  16.4               -                 
Other -                 0.4                 -                  0.3                  -                 1.1                 

245.5             121.3             194.3              122.4              162.2             91.3               
Offsetting of assets and liabilities (52.9)              (52.9)              (1.7)                 (1.7)                 27.7               27.7               

192.6$           68.4$             192.6$            120.7$            189.9$           119.0$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statutory tax rates were 27.15% in 2012 and 28.65% in 2011. The Corporation’s applicable tax rate corresponds to the combined Canadian tax rates applicable in the provinces
where the Corporation operates. The decrease mainly reflects a decrease in federal income tax rate from 16.50% to 15.00%, effective January 1, 2012.

The following table presents components of income tax expense for the years ended October 31:

The loss carryforwards included in deferred income tax assets expire between 2015 and 2032.

Current income taxes

Deferred income taxes

The following table presents components of the deferred income tax asset and liability:

As at October 31, 2012 As at October 31, 2011 As at November 1, 2010
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

8  INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the year ended October 31, 2012 are as follows:

Balance as at 
November 1, 

2011
Recognized in 

profit or loss
Exchange rate 

change
Discontinued 

operations

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
loss

Business 
combinations

Balance as at
October 31,

2012

Loss carryforwards 130.1$           (82.5)$            0.1$               -$                -$                78.1$             125.8$           
Inventories (6.3)                (1.4)                -                 -                  -                  -                 (7.7)                
Property, plant and equipment (51.1)              (10.7)              -                 2.1                  -                  (3.5)                (63.2)              
Intangible assets and goodwill (43.0)              30.5               0.1                 -                  -                  (10.4)              (22.8)              
Other assets (4.3)                7.5                 -                 -                  -                  10.8               14.0               
Long-term debt (17.4)              3.2                 -                 -                  -                  -                 (14.2)              
Provisions 45.0               (2.3)                0.2                 -                  -                  16.4               59.3               
Transitional provision for partnerships -                 (13.0)              -                 -                  -                  -                 (13.0)              
Defined benefit pension plans 19.2               (9.1)                -                 -                  22.5                13.8               46.4               
Other (0.3)                0.8                 -                 -                  (0.9)                 -                 (0.4)                

71.9$             (77.0)$            0.4$               2.1$                21.6$              105.2$           124.2$           

Changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the year ended October 31, 2011 are as follows:

Balance as at
November 1, 

2010
Recognized in 

profit or loss
Exchange rate 

change
Discontinued 

operations

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
loss

Business 
combinations

Balance as at
October 31,

2011

Loss carryforwards 119.1$           13.1$             (2.1)$              -$                -$                -$               130.1$           
Inventories (5.1)                (1.2)                -                 -                  -                  -                 (6.3)                
Property, plant and equipment (35.5)              (13.5)              (0.6)                (1.5)                 -                  -                 (51.1)              
Intangible assets and goodwill (39.3)              (3.6)                -                 -                  -                  (0.1)                (43.0)              
Other assets 2.1                 (6.2)                (0.2)                -                  -                  -                 (4.3)                
Long-term debt (10.3)              (7.1)                -                 -                  -                  -                 (17.4)              
Provisions 24.6               21.8               (1.4)                -                  -                  -                 45.0               
Defined benefit pension plans 16.4               (3.7)                -                 -                  6.5                  -                 19.2               
Other (1.1)                0.3                 -                 -                  0.5                  -                 (0.3)                

70.9$             (0.1)$              (4.3)$              (1.5)$               7.0$                (0.1)$              71.9$             

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation has $140.8 million in capital losses that can be used indefinitely, and for which the potential benefits have not been recognized. In addition, the Corporation has loss
carryforwards in certain U.S. states and considering that there may be restrictions on the use of these losses, the Corporation has not recognized a deferred tax asset on losses
totaling $68.2 million. Losses related to the unrecognized asset expire between 2013 and 2032.

As at October 31, 2012, no deferred tax liability was recognized for temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries because the Corporation controls the decisions
affecting the realization of such liabilities and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

9  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The following table presents the results of discontinued operations for the years ended October 31:

2012i 2011ii

Revenues 21.5$             109.6$           
Expenses 21.9               110.0             
Loss before income taxes (0.4)                (0.4)                
Income taxes recovered (0.1)                (0.2)                
Loss related to the operation of discontinued operations (0.3)                (0.2)                
Gain (loss) related to discontinuance of black and white book printing operations,

net of related income taxes (recovery) of ($2.1) ($1.5 in 2011) (5.8)                3.5                 
Gain (gain adjustment) related to discontinuance of Mexican printing operations (no tax effect) (1.3)                25.3               
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (1) (7.4)$              28.6$             

10  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Components of accounts receivable are as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at 
November 1,

2010

438.8$            372.9$           406.3$           
(14.5)               (7.2)                (10.2)              

-                  35.0               -                 
25.5                24.8               32.7               

449.8$            425.5$           428.8$           

(1) The net income (loss) related to the discontinued operations is fully attributable to the Corporation’s shareholders.

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amount related to sold activities (Note 26)
Other receivables

The Corporation has a securitization program maturing in 2013 with a trust whose financial services agent is a Canadian bank, for the sale, from time to time, of certain accounts
receivable of its subsidiaries. The maximum net consideration permitted under the program is $200.0 million, of which a maximum of 20% in accounts receivable may be in U.S.
dollars.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On July 16, 2012, the Corporation sold its black and white book printing assets for net proceeds of $13.0 million, subject to a price adjustment clause based on working capital at the
closing of the transaction. An amount of $10.0 million was received upon closing the transaction and an amount of $3.0 million will be received over the next five years. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2011, in connection with the acquisition of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc., the Corporation had sold its black and white book printing business for U.S. export for
$5.0 million in net proceeds. The net income (loss), assets, liabilities and cash flows related to these activities were reclassified separately in the Consolidated Statements of Income
(Loss), the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as discontinued operations.

On July 12, 2011, the Corporation entered into a final agreement with Quad/Graphics, Inc. to sell its Mexican printing operations. The net income (loss), cash flows, assets and
liabilities related to these activities have been reclassified separately in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss), the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010 as discontinued operations. Note 26 provides more detailed information on the terms and conditions of this
transaction.

No amount had been drawn on this source of financing as at October 31, 2012 and 2011, as well as at November 1, 2010, as part of the securitization program in effect at that date.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

11  INVENTORIES

Components of inventories are as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

46.2$              43.1$             40.1$             
42.2                38.8               39.0               
(5.9)                 (4.7)                (4.9)                
82.5$              77.2$             74.2$             

12  PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Components of prepaid expenses and other current assets are as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

14.0$              14.0$             13.8$             
0.7                  2.1                 5.3                 
-                  2.0                 -                 

14.7$              18.1$             19.1$             

13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following tables present changes in property, plant and equipment for the years ended October 31:

Land Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Machinery and 

equipment
Other 

equipment

Assets under 
construction 
and deposits 

on equipment Total

Balance as at November 1,
2011 39.9$             211.7$           46.4$             1,137.4$        14.8$              158.0$            10.4$             1,618.6$        

Acquisitions 0.1                 1.1                 4.6                 14.2               -                  9.6                  10.4               40.0               
Business combinations 5.1                 13.3               -                 15.6               -                  0.4                  0.2                 34.6               
Disposals (0.4)                (2.4)                (2.3)                (33.1)              (1.6)                 (6.0)                 -                 (45.8)              
Exchange rate change

and other (1.1)                2.1                 -                 4.6                 (4.1)                 0.5                  (1.0)                1.0                 

43.6$             225.8$           48.7$             1,138.7$        9.1$                162.5$            20.0$             1,648.4$        

Balance as at November 1,
2011 -$               (97.0)$            (22.6)$            (684.4)$          (8.4)$               (125.8)$           -$               (938.2)$          

Amortization -                 (8.3)                (3.9)                (67.4)              (1.7)                 (16.9)               -                 (98.2)              
Disposals -                 1.4                 2.3                 30.4               1.6                  6.1                  -                 41.8               
Impairment -                 -                 (0.2)                (0.7)                (0.1)                 (0.3)                 -                 (1.3)                
Exchange rate change

and other -                 (0.5)                0.1                 (2.6)                2.6                  (0.9)                 -                 (1.3)                

-$               (104.4)$          (24.3)$            (724.7)$          (6.0)$               (137.8)$           -$               (997.2)$          

43.6$             121.4$           24.4$             414.0$           3.1$                24.7$              20.0$             651.2$           

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
Other current assets

2012

Machinery and 
equipment under 

finance leases

Cost

Balance as at October 31,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Raw materials
Work in progress and finished goods
Provision for obsolescence

Prepaid expenses

2012

Accumulated amortization
and impairment

Balance as at October 31,
2012

Net book value
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Land Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Machinery and 

equipment
Other 

equipment

Assets under 
construction 
and deposits 

on equipment Total

Balance as at November 1,
2010 40.7$             211.4$           44.6$             1,209.7$        19.5$              159.4$            13.9$             1,699.2$        

Acquisitions -                 2.1                 4.2                 16.1               -                  10.6                -                 33.0               
Business combinations -                 -                 -                 -                 -                  0.2                  -                 0.2                 
Disposals -                 (1.0)                (2.1)                (91.7)              (2.3)                 (12.4)               -                 (109.5)            
Exchange rate change

and other (0.8)                (0.8)                (0.3)                3.3                 (2.4)                 0.2                  (3.5)                (4.3)                

39.9$             211.7$           46.4$             1,137.4$        14.8$              158.0$            10.4$             1,618.6$        

Balance as at November 1,
2010 -$               (89.5)$            (21.1)$            (700.7)$          (7.8)$               (120.1)$           -$               (939.2)$          

Amortization -                 (8.7)                (3.7)                (68.9)              (1.8)                 (17.5)               -                 (100.6)            
Disposals -                 1.1                 2.1                 89.0               1.7                  12.2                -                 106.1             
Impairment -                 -                 -                 (3.8)                -                  (0.1)                 -                 (3.9)                
Exchange rate change

and other -                 0.1                 0.1                 -                 (0.5)                 (0.3)                 -                 (0.6)                

-$               (97.0)$            (22.6)$            (684.4)$          (8.4)$               (125.8)$           -$               (938.2)$          

40.7$             121.9$           23.5$             509.0$           11.7$              39.3$              13.9$             760.0$           
39.9$             114.7$           23.8$             453.0$           6.4$                32.2$              10.4$             680.4$           

Borrowing costs capitalized to property, plant and equipment

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2011

Machinery and 
equipment under 

finance leases

Cost

Balance as at October 31,
2011

As at October 31, 2011

For the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, negligible amounts were capitalized to property, plant and equipment as borrowing costs.

Accumulated amortization
and impairment

Balance as at October 31,
2011

Net book value
As at November 1, 2010
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following tables present changes in intangible assets for the years ended October 31:

Indefinite 
useful life

Customer 
relationships

Book 
prepublication 

costs

Acquired 
printing 

contracts
Non-compete 

agreements

Long-term 
technology 

project costs Other
Trade names 

and circulation Total

Cost
Balance as at November 1,

2011 23.8$             71.6$             11.2$             2.4$               36.2$              21.0$              119.6$           285.8$           
Additions (internally

generated) -                 10.6               -                 -                 11.4                -                  -                 22.0               
Business combinations 28.1               -                 -                 6.1                 -                  (0.3)                 6.6                 40.5               
Elimination of cost on fully

 amortized assets (3.5)                -                 -                 (1.6)                (11.6)               (15.4)               -                 (32.1)              
Exchange rate change

and other -                 (0.1)                -                 -                 2.7                  -                  -                 2.6                 

48.4$             82.1$             11.2$             6.9$               38.7$              5.3$                126.2$           318.8$           

Balance as at November 1,
2011 (9.1)$              (50.3)$            (7.0)$              (1.2)$              (20.4)$             (19.6)$             (28.6)$            (136.2)$          

Amortization (3.8)                (7.0)                (0.7)                (1.5)                (7.1)                 (1.1)                 -                 (21.2)              
Elimination of accumulated 

amortization and
impairment on fully 
amortized assets 3.5                 -                 -                 1.6                 11.6                15.4                -                 32.1               

Impairment (1.6)                -                 -                 (0.6)                (4.9)                 (0.1)                 (13.5)              (20.7)              
Exchange rate change

and other 0.1                 -                 -                 -                 (1.8)                 0.4                  -                 (1.3)                

(10.9)$            (57.3)$            (7.7)$              (1.7)$              (22.6)$             (5.0)$               (42.1)$            (147.3)$          

37.5$             24.8$             3.5$               5.2$               16.1$              0.3$                84.1$             171.5$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Finite useful life

2012

Balance as at October 31,
2012

Accumulated amortization
and impairment

Balance as at October 31,
2012

Net book value
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Indefinite 
useful life

Customer 
relationships

Book 
prepublication 

costs

Acquired 
printing 

contracts
Non-compete 

agreements

Long-term 
technology 

project costs Other
Trade names 

and circulation Total

Cost
Balance as at November 1,

2010 32.2$             60.3$             11.1$             2.0$               40.1$              20.9$              119.6$           286.2$           
Additions (internally

generated) -                 11.3               -                 -                 6.2                  -                  -                 17.5               
Business combinations -                 -                 -                 0.4                 -                  -                  -                 0.4                 
Elimination of cost on fully

 amortized assets (8.3)                -                 -                 -                 (10.2)               -                  -                 (18.5)              
Exchange rate change

and other (0.1)                -                 0.1                 -                 0.1                  0.1                  -                 0.2                 

23.8$             71.6$             11.2$             2.4$               36.2$              21.0$              119.6$           285.8$           

Balance as at November 1,
2010 (7.0)$              (41.1)$            (6.2)$              (0.8)$              (19.9)$             (15.5)$             (16.6)$            (107.1)$          

Amortization (4.6)                (9.2)                (0.8)                (0.4)                (8.3)                 (4.1)                 -                 (27.4)              
Elimination of accumulated 

amortization and
impairment on fully 
amortized assets 8.3                 -                 -                 -                 10.2                -                  -                 18.5               

Impairment (5.7)                -                 -                 -                 (2.6)                 -                  (12.0)              (20.3)              
Exchange rate change

and other (0.1)                -                 -                 -                 0.2                  -                  -                 0.1                 

(9.1)$              (50.3)$            (7.0)$              (1.2)$              (20.4)$             (19.6)$             (28.6)$            (136.2)$          

25.2$             19.2$             4.9$               1.2$               20.2$              5.4$                103.0$           179.1$           
14.7$             21.3$             4.2$               1.2$               15.8$              1.4$                91.0$             149.6$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Finite useful life

2011

Balance as at October 31,
2011

Accumulated amortization
and impairment

Balance as at October 31,
2011

Net book value
As at November 1, 2010
As at October 31, 2011
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

15  GOODWILL

The following table presents changes in goodwill for the years ended October 31:

2012i 2011ii

Cost
980.4$           945.0$           
17.8               35.4               

998.2$           980.4$           

Accumulated impairment 
(301.2)$          (270.2)$          
(210.0)            (31.0)              
(511.2)$          (301.2)$          

Beginning of year 679.2$           674.8$           
End of year 487.0$           679.2$           

Operating segments

As at 
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Printing Sector
Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group 65.4$              65.4$             65.4$             
Retail and Newspaper Group 61.0                61.0               61.0               

126.4              126.4             126.4             

Media Sector
Business and Consumer Solutions Group 108.3              208.9             208.9             
Local Solutions Group 172.0              256.1             224.3             
Book Publishing Group 54.9                74.2               74.2               
Content Solutions Group 12.7                12.7               11.2               
Digital Solutions Group 11.8                -                 28.9               

359.7              551.9             547.5             

Other activities 0.9                  0.9                 0.9                 
487.0$            679.2$           674.8$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance, beginning of year
Business combinations (Note 26)
Balance, end of year

Balance, beginning of year 
Impairment (Note 5)
Balance, end of year

Net book value

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the CGU groups as follows:
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

16  OTHER ASSETS

Components of other assets are as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

23.8$              13.4$             20.4$             
-                  0.1                 1.5                 
0.1                  0.2                 2.5                 
7.3                  6.5                 7.9                 

31.2$              20.2$             32.3$             

17  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Accounts payable and other accruals 196.1$            157.8$           189.5$           
Salaries and other benefits payable 80.6                79.8               81.1               
Stock-based compensation 7.3                  8.5                 10.0               
Taxes payable 18.9                11.6               13.8               

4.5                  6.3                 10.8               
Financial expenses payable 5.6                  6.0                 6.3                 

23.8                17.1               12.8               
336.8$            287.1$           324.3$           

Contract acquisition costs
Defined benefit asset (Note 28)
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
Other

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Other

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

18  LONG-TERM DEBT

Maturity

As at
October 31, 

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Series 2002 A – Tranche 1 – 5.62% (US$75.0) 6.77 % 2013 74.9$              74.4$             76.5$             
Series 2002 A – Tranche 2 – 5.73% (US$50.0) 5.80 % 2015 49.9                49.6               51.0               
Series 2004 A - LIBOR + 0.70% (US$37.5) -                 -                  -                  37.2               38.3               
Series 2004 B - LIBOR + 0.70.% (US$37.5) -                 -                  -                  37.2               38.3               
Series 2004 C - LIBOR + 0.80% (US$15.0) 1.34 % 2014 15.0                14.9               15.3               
Series 2004 D - LIBOR + 0.90% (US$10.0) 1.05 % 2016 10.0                9.9                 10.2               

-                 -                  -                  -                 0.5                 

equipment having a net book value of $3.1 5.43% à 6.54 % 2013-2016 2.9                  4.2                 5.2                 
2.76 % 2017 139.0              145.0             166.0             

2011 – US$37.0; 2010 – US$12.0) 1.66 % 2017 55.9                36.7               12.2               

Series 1 – 8.06% 8.15 % 2014 50.0                50.0               50.0               
Series 2 – 5.58% 5.59 % 2019 50.0                50.0               50.0               

-                 -                  -                  -                 50.0               

-                 -                  -                  -                 100.0             

2011 - €39.3; 2010 - €49.2) 7.25 % 2015 38.1                55.5               69.6               
2.93% à 3.76 % 2013-2027 4.8                  2.6                 3.8                 

490.5              567.2             736.9             
2.9                  2.8                 6.2                 

487.6              564.4             730.7             
283.5              271.9             293.8             
204.1$            292.5$           436.9$           

Credit facility in Canadian dollars
Credit facility in U.S. dollars (2012 – US$56.0;

Debentures – Solidarity Fund QFL

Term loan - SGF Rexfor Inc. – 8.25%
Term credit facility - Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec

Banker’s acceptance rate + 6.375%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Long-term debt is as follows:

Effective Interest
rate as at 

October 31, 2012

Senior notes

Loans secured by property, plant and equipment
Obligations under finance leases for property, plant and

Series 2002 A Senior Notes are redeemable at the greater of par value and the discounted value of future cash flows, if redeemed before scheduled maturity, using an interest rate
based on U.S. Treasury Securities with similar maturities. Series 2004 C Senior Notes are redeemable at their nominal value. Series 2004 D Senior Notes are redeemable at a
premium of 0.5% as at October 31, 2012. During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation repaid the Series 2004 A and 2004 B Senior Notes, which matured.

The Corporation has a credit facility amounting to $400.0 million or the U.S. dollar equivalent, which matures in February 2017. The applicable interest rate on the term revolving
credit facility is based on the credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s and DBRS. According to the current credit rating, it is either the bank prime rate, banker’s acceptance rate
or LIBOR, plus 1.45%, or the Canadian or U.S. prime rate, plus 0.45%.

As at October 31, 2012, letters of credit amounting to C$2.0 million and US$1.5 million were drawn on the committed credit facility, in addition to the amount presented above.

The financing of $100.0 million from the Solidarity Fund QFL is comprised of two $50.0 million debentures. The first bears interest at a rate of 8.06%, payable every six months. The
second bears interest at a rate of 5.58%, payable every six months. In case of a change in control of the Corporation, the terms and conditions of the financing state that the principal
and accrued interest could become due.

The financing of €29.5 million ($38.1 million) from a European bank bears interest at EURIBOR plus 1.60%. It is payable in equal instalments of principal plus interest, every six
months until July 2015. On December 1, 2009, the Corporation entered into a cross currency interest rate swap agreement, maturing in July 2015, to lock the exchange rate at
1.5761 and to convert the interest rate to banker’s acceptance rate plus 3.36%.

Term loan - EURIBOR + 1.60% (2012 – €29.5;

Other loans at zero nominal interest rates

Issuance costs on long-term debt at amortized cost
Total long-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt (1)

(1) The current portion of long-term debt is comprised, among other things of the credit facilities in Canadian and U.S. dollars, as well as the term credit facility granted by Caisse de
dépôt et placement du Québec.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

18  LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

283.5$           
80.4               
63.5               
10.8               
0.6                 

51.7               
490.5$           

Interest

1.2$                0.1$               1.1$               
1.9                  0.1                 1.8                 
3.1$                0.2$               2.9$               

19  PROVISIONS

The following table presents changes in provisions for the year ended October 31, 2012:

Balance as at November 1, 2011 5.5$               9.6$                5.2$                2.2$               22.5$             
Provisions recorded 34.7               6.4                  11.3                0.8                 53.2               
Business combination (Note 26) 1.8                 2.7                  16.1                0.9                 21.5               
Amounts used (30.7)              (2.0)                 -                  (0.6)                (33.3)              
Provisions reversed (2.0)                -                  -                  (1.1)                (3.1)                

Balance as at October 31, 2012 9.3$               16.7$              32.6$              2.2$               60.8$             

Current portion 9.3                 4.6                  -                  1.6                 15.5               
Non-current portion -                 12.1                32.6                0.6                 45.3               

9.3$               16.7$              32.6$              2.2$               60.8$             

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2016
2017
2018 and thereafter

The present value of future minimum payments under finance leases for which the principal amount is included in the amounts presented above, are as follows:

The Corporation must comply with certain restrictive covenants, including the requirement to maintain certain financial ratios. For the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, the
Corporation has not been in default under any of its obligations.

Principal payments to be made by the Corporation in forthcoming years are as follows:

Principal 
payments

2013
2014
2015

Future minimum
payments

under finance 
leases

Present value of 
future minimum 

payments
under finance 

leases

Less than 1 year
1 to 5 years

Restructuring 
costs

Onerous real 
estate contracts

Multi-employer 
plans Other Total

 2012 Annual Report   85........2012 Annual Report 85TRANSCONTINENTAL

21_74116_ANG_P54 a 114.indd   85 12-12-25   1:21 PM



Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

19  PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Restructuring costs

Onerous real estate contracts

Multi-employer plans

Other

2012i 2011ii

Workforce reductions 32.7$             9.4$               
Multi-employer plans 11.3               -                 
Onerous real estate contracts 6.4                 -                 
Gain on defined benefit plans curtailment related to workforce reductions (3.4)                -                 
Net losses on disposal of assets 1.6                 -                 
Business acquisition costs (1) 1.8                 3.3                 
Other costs related to restructurings 4.6                 2.4                 

55.0$             15.1$             

20  OTHER LIABILITIES

Components of other liabilities are as follows:

As at 
October 31,

2012

As at 
October 31,

2011

As at 
November 1, 

2010

5.7$                6.5$               7.2$               
23.8                9.0                 7.3                 

155.7              65.3               54.5               
6.4                  8.0                 11.2               

191.6$            88.8$             80.2$             

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation is currently implementing rationalization measures that will affect all its operating segments. These measures will address excess production capacity in some
specialized plants of the Printing Sector following the integration of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc., and due to major structural changes in the printing industry. These measures also
address the implementation of a new operating structure since November 1, 2011, which includes the majority of the Interactive Sector's activities with those of the Media Sector.

The provisions for onerous real estate contracts are related to the operating leases for unused spaces by the Corporation, and represent the present value of future rental expenses
that the Corporation must pay under leases that cannot be cancelled, net of estimated future subleasing revenues expected to be received on these subleases. The terms of these
leases vary from 1 to 9 years.

The Corporation participates in multi-employer pension plans accounted for as defined contribution plans. Under IFRS, in accordance with IAS 19 "Employee Benefits", the multi-
employer plans that include implicit obligations are accounted for as defined benefit plans when the Corporation has sufficient information to identify its share of the obligation under
defined benefit, its share of plan assets and costs associated with the plans. The Corporation does not have all the information to be able to recognize these plans as defined benefit
plans, but it has sufficient information to record this obligation as a provision. Provisions for multi-employer plans are based on the data provided by the most recent actuarial
valuations by applying an estimated percentage of the share in the plan deficit, calculated on a going concern basis, attributable to the Corporation. There is no contractual
agreement that states how the deficit of the plans will be funded by each participant and their respective share. These elements are currently being negotiated and the amount that
will lead to a settlement could be different than the amount recognized in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements.

Other provisions include provisions for asset retirement obligations, provisions related to claims and litigations and other obligations.

Restructuring and other costs by major heading were as follows for the years ended October 31:

(1) Business acquisition costs include transactions costs, comprising legal and bank fees, and costs related to the integration of acquired businesses.

Deferred subscription revenues
Accrued liabilities and other liabilities
Defined benefit liability (Note 28) 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

21  SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares Amount

Number of 
shares Amount

65,873,182     360.8$            65,806,497    360.5$           
Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 145,619          0.2                  45,605           0.1                 

49,450            0.6                  21,080           0.2                 
Participating shares redeemed and cancelled (1,963,400)      (10.7)               -                 -                 
Treasury shares (48,200)           (0.3)                 -                 -                 

64,056,651     350.6              65,873,182    360.8             

15,151,235     20.5                15,196,840    20.6               
Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares (145,619)         (0.2)                 (45,605)          (0.1)                

15,005,616     20.3                15,151,235    20.5               
79,062,267     370.9$            81,024,417    381.3$           

Preferred shares

4,000,000       96.8$              4,000,000      96.8$             

83,062,267     467.7$            85,024,417    478.1$           

Exercise of stock options

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares: subordinate participating voting shares carrying one vote per share, authorized in unlimited number, no par value;
Class B Shares: participating voting shares carrying 20 votes per share, convertible into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, 

authorized in unlimited number, no par value;
Preferred shares: first and second preferred shares, issuable in series in number limited by the Articles of Incorporation, carrying no 

voting rights except as provided by law or in the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, entitling the holder to 
cumulative preferred dividends.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Exercise of stock options

Balance, end of year 

Class B Shares
Balance, beginning of year

Balance, end of year

For the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, changes to the Corporation’s share capital were as follows:

2012 2011

Participating shares

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
Balance, beginning of year

Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D
Balance, beginning and end of year

When officers and senior executives exercise their stock options, any consideration paid is credited to share capital and the amount previously credited to contributed surplus is also
transferred to share capital. For the year ended October 31, 2012, consideration of $0.5 million was received, and $0.1 million was transferred from contributed surplus to share
capital. For the year ended October 31, 2011, consideration of $0.2 million was received and a negligible amount was transferred from contributed surplus to share capital.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

21  SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Participating share redemptions

Preferred shares

22  NET INCOME (LOSS) PER PARTICIPATING SHARE

2012i 2011ii

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (168.5)$          99.8$             
Non-controlling interests (0.6)                (0.9)                
Dividends on preferred shares, net of related taxes (6.8)                (6.8)                
Net income (loss) from continuing operations, attributable to participating shares (175.9)$          92.1$             

Weighted average number of participating shares outstanding - basic 80.7 81.0
Weighted average number of dilutive options -                 0.1                 
Weighted average number of participating shares - diluted 80.7               81.1               

For the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation did not redeem Class B shares and had no such obligation at that date.

The Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D have a fixed annual cumulative dividend of 6.75% for the first five years, payable quarterly on the 15th of
January, April, July and October. The fixed dividend rate will be reset as at October 15, 2014, and every five years thereafter, at a rate equal to the five-year Government of Canada
bond yield plus 4.16%. The Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D are redeemable at the option of the Corporation on each five-year anniversary date, and
may be converted at the option of the holder (under certain conditions) to Cumulative Floating Rate First Preferred Shares, Series E ("Series E Preferred Shares") as at October 15,
2014, and on October 15 every five years thereafter. The Series E Preferred Shares will have a quarterly dividend equal to the three-month Government of Canada Treasury Bill
yield plus 4.16%. The Series E Preferred Shares will be redeemable at the option of the Corporation and may be converted at the option of the holder (under certain conditions) to
Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset First Preferred Shares, Series D as at October 15, 2019, and on October 15 every five years thereafter.

The following table is a reconciliation of the items used to calculate basic and diluted net income (loss) from continuing operations per participating share for the years ended
October 31:

Numerator

Denominator (in millions)

In the calculation of the diluted net loss per share, 1,432,616 stock options were considered anti-dilutive as at October 31, 2012, being all options issued and outstanding at that date
considering the loss position for the year. As at October 31, 2011, 1,242,340 options were considered anti-dilutive, since their exercise price was greater than the average share
price of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares during the period. Therefore, these stock options were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share for that year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation has been authorized to redeem, for cancellation on the open market, between April 13, 2012 and April 12, 2013, or at an earlier date if the Corporation concludes or
cancels the offer, up to 3,295,096 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 5% of its 65,901,932 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued and outstanding as at
April 2, 2012, and up to 757,561 Class B Shares, representing 5% of its 15,151,235 Class B Shares issued and outstanding as at April 2, 2012. The redemptions are being made in
the normal course of business at market prices through the Toronto Stock Exchange.

For the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation redeemed 2,011,600 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at a weighted average price of $8.86 for a total cash
consideration of $17.3 million and an amount payable of $0.5 million. The excess of the total consideration paid over the carrying amount of the shares, in the amount of $6.8 million,
was applied against retained earnings. As at October 31, 2012, 48,200 of the redeemed shares, having a carrying amount of $0.3 million and a redemption price of $0.5 million, were
treasury shares, or shares still held by the Corporation, which were cancelled in November 2012. The Corporation was under no obligation to redeem its Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares as at October 31, 2012.

Dividends of $0.55 and $0.49 per share were declared and paid to the holders of participating shares for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Dividends of
$1.69 per share were declared and paid to the holders of preferred shares for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

23  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock option plan

16.67$            1,542,490      16.76$           
12.40              164,672         16.20             
10.01              (21,080)          10.36             
17.33              (113,442)        18.38             

(18,600)           12.61              -                 -                 
16.11$            1,572,640      16.67$           

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

(years)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

$ 9.64 - 12.40 462,836                 4.6    10.89$            190,125 9.64$             
$ 13.09 - 16.20 341,520                 4.0    14.90              190,555 14.85             
$ 17.80 - 22.41 628,260                 0.8    20.61              628,260 20.61             

1,432,616                 2.8    16.11$            1,008,940 17.45$           

$ 9.64 - 11.13 330,300                 3.9    9.76$              178,850 9.87$             
$ 13.09 - 16.20 440,280                 5.0    14.87              137,975 14.78             
$ 17.80 - 22.41 802,060                 1.8    20.50              802,060 20.50             

1,572,640                 3.1    16.67$            1,118,885 18.10$           

Number 
of options

Weighted
average 

exercise price
Number 

of options

Weighted
average 

exercise price

Options outstanding at beginning of year 1,572,640            

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation offers a stock option plan for the benefit of certain officers and senior executives. The number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares authorized for issuance and
the balance of shares that are issuable under the plan as at October 31, 2012 was 6,078,562 and 4,523,028, respectively. Under the plan, each stock option entitles its holder to
receive upon exercise one Class A Subordinate Voting Share. The exercise price of each option is determined using the weighted average price of all trades for the five days
immediately preceding the grant of the stock option. 

Stock-based compensation expenses of $0.8 million and $0.7 million were charged to the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and increased contributed surplus included in
shareholders’ equity for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The following table summarizes the changes in the plan's status for the years ended October 31:

2012 2011

Expired
Options outstanding at end of year 1,432,616            

As at October 31, 2012, the balance of stock options available for grant under the plan was 3,090,412.

The following table summarizes information regarding stock options as at October 31:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Granted 235,984               
Exercised (49,450)               
Cancelled (307,958)             

Exercise price 
range

2012

2011
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

23  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

2012i 2011ii

Share price of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares on the stock option grant date 12.40$           16.20$           
Weighted average fair value of the stock options 3.01$             4.82$             

Assumptions:
4.4 % 2.7 %

40.5 % 39.0 %
1.40 % 2.60 %

5 years 5 years

Share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives

Number of units 2012i 2011ii 2012i 2011ii

Balance, beginning of year 201,981          121,110          679,884         676,627         
Units granted -                  40,123            309,097         233,383         
Units cancelled -                  -                  (224,922)        (110,163)        
Units paid (49,777)           (31,431)           (139,506)        (53,824)          
Units converted 17,956            66,139            (17,956)          (66,139)          
Dividends paid in units 8,747              6,040              -                 -                 

Balance, end of year 178,907          201,981          606,597         679,884         

Share unit plan for directors

The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used to calculate, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the fair value on the grant date of the options
granted during the years ended October 31:

Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility 
Risk-free interest rate
Expected remaining life

The expected dividend yield is based on the actual average dividend rate of the Corporation's participating shares. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the
price of the Corporation's Class A Subordinate Voting Shares over a period equal to the expected life of the options. The risk-free rate is the rate of return on Government of Canada
bonds over a period equal to the expected life of the options. The expected remaining life of the options represents the period of time during which the options granted are expected
to be outstanding.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation offers a share unit plan for the benefit of certain officers and senior executives under which deferred share units ("DSU") and restricted share units ("RSU") are
granted. Vested DSUs and RSUs will be paid, at the Corporation’s discretion, in cash or with Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation purchased on the open market.

The following table summarizes the changes in the plan's status for the years ended October 31:

DSU RSU

As at October 31, 2012, the liability related to the share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives was $4.9 million ($6.1 million as at October 31, 2011 and $7.8 million as at
November 1, 2010). The expenses (reversals) recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011 were $0.9 million and
($0.4) million, respectively. Amounts of $2.1 million and $1.3 million were paid under this plan for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Corporation offers a deferred share unit plan for its directors. Under this plan, directors may elect to receive as compensation either cash, deferred share units, or a combination
of both.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

23  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

Number of units 2012i 2011ii

Balance, beginning of year 201,257         159,803         
Directors' compensation 53,643           35,497           
Units paid (18,573)          -                 
Dividends paid in units 11,178           5,957             

Balance, end of year 247,505         201,257         

24  ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Balance as at November 1, 2010 (4.5)$               -$                -$               (4.5)$              
Net change in gains (losses), net of income taxes (1.8)                 (1.9)                 (19.9)              (23.6)              

Balance as at October 31, 2011 (6.3)$               (1.9)$               (19.9)$            (28.1)$            

Balance as at November 1, 2011 (6.3)$               (1.9)$               (19.9)$            (28.1)$            
Net change in gains (losses), net of income taxes 2.4                  0.7                  (59.4)              (56.3)              

Balance as at October 31, 2012 (3.9)$               (1.2)$               (79.3)$            (84.4)$            

2017
2013 2014 2015 2016 and thereafter Total

Losses on derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedges (0.6)$              (1.2)$              (0.9)$               (0.8)$               (1.8)$              (5.3)$              

Income taxes (0.2)                (0.3)                (0.2)                 (0.2)                 (0.5)                (1.4)                
(0.4)$              (0.9)$              (0.7)$               (0.6)$               (1.3)$              (3.9)$              

25  SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2012i 2011ii

(12.2)$            34.3$             
5.2                 (3.1)                
0.6                 (0.5)                

(26.9)              (22.4)              
13.8               (8.9)                
5.7                 (6.9)                

(30.0)              (14.2)              
(43.8)$            (21.7)$            

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes the changes in the plan's status for the years ended October 31:

As at October 31, 2012, the liability related to share unit plan for directors was $2.4 million ($2.4 million as at October 31, 2011 and $2.2 million as at November 1, 2010). The
expenses recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011 were $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. An amount of
$0.4 million was paid under this plan for the year ended October 31, 2012. No amount was paid under this plan for the year ended October 31, 2011.

Actuarial
gains and Accumulated

hedges differences benefit plans loss

As at October 31, 2012, the amounts expected to be reclassified to net income are as follows:

Changes in non-cash operating items are as follows for the years ended October 31:

Cash Cumulative losses related other
flow translation to defined comprehensive

Defined benefit plans (Note 28)

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provisions
Deferred subscription revenues and deposits
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

26  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Media Sector

Printing Sector

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On February 13, 2012, the Corporation acquired 100% of the shares of Éditions Caractère , a leader in the extracurricular book market in Quebec and publisher in the trade market.
This transaction allows the Media Sector to improve its offer in the educational and extracurricular book markets in Quebec.

On February 15, 2012, the Corporation acquired the print and Internet assets of Courrier Frontenac , a weekly newspaper serving Thetford Mines and the surrounding area. With this
transaction, the Media Sector has added a weekly publication to its existing offer in the region of Chaudière-Appalaches.

On July 12, 2011, the Corporation and Quad/Graphics, Inc. have entered into a definitive agreement under which the Corporation agreed to acquire all the shares of Quad/Graphics
Canada, Inc., which operates in the printing sector and has seven facilities in Canada: three in Ontario, two in Quebec, one in Alberta and one in Nova-Scotia, representing six
printing plants and one premedia facility. In consideration for this transaction, the Corporation sold its Mexican printing operations and its black and white book printing business for
U.S. export. On March 1, 2012, the Corporation completed the acquisition of 100% shares of Quad/Graphics Canada, Inc. With this transaction, the Printing Sector has reinforced its
printing assets, and the Corporation expects to benefit from operating synergies by taking advantage of major investments made in the printing platform over the last few years.

This transaction was settled in cash for an amount of $47.1 million, and by offsetting amounts receivable of $30.0 million related to the sale of the Mexican printing operations and
$5.0 million for the black and white book printing business for U.S. export. The Mexican transaction was completed on September 8, 2011, for net proceeds of $80.5 million. This
transaction generated a net gain on disposal of $24.0 million. A $25.3 million gain was recorded in the year ended October 31, 2011 and a $1.3 million loss was recorded in the year
ended October 31, 2012.

During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation made a final assessment of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in this transaction. The estimated fair
values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on a combination of independent valuations and internal estimates. The fair value of identifiable net assets is
greater than the consideration paid, which gives rise to an amount of negative goodwill which was recorded as a gain on business acquisition in the Consolidated Statement of Loss
for the year ended October 31, 2012. This negative goodwill was primarily due to the recognition of deferred income tax assets attributable to tax losses acquired in the business
combination.

On May 17, 2012, the Corporation acquired 60% of the shares in Redux Media , a leading online advertising network. This transaction allows the Media Sector to expand its existing
online network. The Corporation recognized this acquisition using the acquisition method, as if 100% of the shares had been acquired, given the existence of an option for the
purchaser to buy or the seller to sell three years after the date of acquisition. As such, the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed on the date of purchase were consolidated, as
were 100% of earnings since this date.

On June 18, 2012, the Corporation acquired an additional 60% of the shares in Métro (Montréal), a daily newspaper serving the Island of Montreal. This transaction allowed the
Corporation to become the sole owner of Métro (Montréal), and thereby expand the publication's advertising opportunities, particularly through links with other products of the Media
Sector. This entity, which was formerly recognized using the proportionate consolidation method, is now fully consolidated.

Given the short period between the dates of acquisition and the reporting date, management was unable to obtain all the information to complete the initial accounting for certain
business combinations, and therefore it is preliminary and subject to change following a final assessment of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The excess of
the price paid over the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from certain acquisitions in the Media Sector was fully attributed to goodwill. Consequently,
the intangible assets acquired and the related amortization have not been reflected in these annual consolidated financial statements. The Corporation expects to finalize initial
recognition of these business combinations in the first quarters of fiscal 2013.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

26  BUSINESS  COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Assets acquired
Current assets 46.3$              11.8$             58.1$             
Property, plant and equipment 34.4                0.2                 34.6               
Intangible assets 31.9                8.6                 40.5               
Goodwill (tax basis of $5.3) -                  17.8               17.8               
Deferred income taxes 107.5              0.1                 107.6             

220.1$            38.5$             258.6$           

Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities 31.6$              11.2$             42.8$             
Deferred income taxes -                  2.4                 2.4                 
Long-term debt -                  2.4                 2.4                 
Provisions 21.5                -                 21.5               
Other liabilities 52.8                2.4                 55.2               

105.9$            18.4$             124.3$           
114.2$            20.1$             134.3$           

Consideration
Cash paid 47.1$              15.9$             63.0$             
Cash of the acquired businesses -                  (2.6)                (2.6)                
Amount related to sold activities 35.0                -                 35.0               
Short-term liabilities -                  1.3                 1.3                 
Contingent consideration -                  5.5                 5.5                 

82.1                20.1               102.2             
Gain on business acquisition 32.1                -                 32.1               

114.2$            20.1$             134.3$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation made a final assessment of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for Vortxt Interactive Inc., acquired on
November 1, 2010, Groupe Le Canada Français, acquired on August 1, 2011, Avantage Consommateurs de l'Est du Québec, acquired on August 29, 2011, and Éditions Caractère , 
acquired on February 13, 2012. The above table comprises these adjustments.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year ended October 31, 2012, as at the acquisition date:

Quad/Graphics 
Canada, Inc. Other Total

The Corporation’s Consolidated Statement of Loss for the year ended October 31, 2012 includes the operating results of the acquired businesses since their date of acquisition,
including supplementary revenues of approximately $168.1 million, operating income before amortization of $15.1 million and transaction costs of $1.8 million. The fair value of trade
receivables acquired in an amount of $54.2 million, of which $8.1 million is considered uncollectible at the time of acquisition, is included in current assets upon recognition of the
business combinations. If the Corporation had acquired these businesses on November 1, 2011, their operating results would have been as follows: additional revenues of
$230.1 million and operating income before amortization of $22.9 million.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

26  BUSINESS  COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Media Sector

Assets acquired
Current assets 3.8$               
Property, plant and equipment 0.2                 
Intangible assets 0.4                 
Goodwill (tax basis of $23.9) 35.4               

39.8$             

Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities 0.8$               
Deferred income taxes 0.1                 

0.9$               
38.9$             

Consideration
Cash paid 35.2$             
Bank overdraft in acquired businesses 0.1                 
Short-term liabilities 3.6                 

38.9$             

27  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with joint ventures

2012i 2011ii

Sale of products and services 5.0$               6.4$               

As at
October 31, 

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Accounts receivable 0.4$                1.0$               1.3$               

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On November 1, 2010, the Corporation acquired 100% of the shares of Vortxt Interactive inc., a company operating in mobile solutions.

On April 28, 2011, the Corporation acquired the assets of Journal Nouvelles Hebdo , a weekly newspaper in the Dolbeau-Mistassini area.

On August 1, 2011, the Corporation acquired the assets of Groupe Le Canada Français, representing 11 weekly and monthly titles and a series of Web portals serving the Saint-
Jean-sur-Richelieu and Granby areas.

On August 29, 2011, the Corporation acquired the assets of Avantage Consommateurs de l'Est du Québec, representing three weekly and monthly publications and their Web
portals, serving the territory between St-Simon and Gaspé.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year ended October 31, 2011, as at the acquisition date:

During the year ended October 31, 2011, the Corporation paid an amount of $0.5 million, which was included in short-term liabilities as at November 1, 2010, relating to a business
combination completed in prior periods.

In the normal course of business, the Corporation sells products and services to certain joint ventures. These transactions were carried out at arm’s length and were recorded at the
exchange amount. The following table presents the portion of these transactions attributable to the interests of other joint venturers for the years ended October 31:

The following table presents the Corporation’s outstanding balances with joint venturers:
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

27  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Key management personnel compensation

2012i 2011ii

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 7.8$               11.1$             
Post-employment benefits 1.0                 1.6                 
Stock-based compensation 1.6                 0.7                 

10.4$             13.4$             

28  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1, 

2010

                    65 %                68    %                69    %
                 34                   29                   29    
                   1                     3                     2    
               100    %              100    %              100    %

The defined benefit obligation, the fair value of plan assets and the composition of plan assets are measured at the annual reporting date. The most recent actuarial valuation for
pension plan funding purposes was done on December 31, 2011.

The composition of the pension plan assets is as follows:

Equity
Government and corporate bonds
Cash and cash equivalents

As at October 31, 2012, the plan assets included shares of the Corporation in the amount of $0,2 million ($0,3 million as at October 31, 2011 and as at November 1, 2010).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation, directly or indirectly,
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Corporation. Key management personnel earned the following amounts for the years ended October 31:

The Corporation offers various contributory and non-contributory defined benefit plans for pension and other post-employment benefits, defined contribution pension plans and
registered group savings plans to its employees and those of its participating subsidiaries. For the defined benefit plans, the amount of benefits is generally calculated based on the
employees’ years of service and salaries. Plan funding is calculated based on actuarial assumptions and is subject to limitations under applicable income tax and other regulations.
Actuarial estimates prepared during the year were based on assumptions related to projected employee compensation levels up to the time of retirement and the anticipated long-
term rate of return on pension plan assets. For defined contribution pension plans and group registered savings plans, the sole obligation of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is to
make the monthly employer’s contribution.

The Corporation participates in multi-employer pension plans accounted for as defined contribution plans. Under IFRS, in accordance with IAS 19 "Employee Benefits", the multi-
employer plans that include implicit obligations are accounted for as defined benefit plans when the Corporation has sufficient information to identify its share of the obligation under
defined benefit, its share of plan assets and costs associated with the plans. The Corporation does not have all the information to be able to recognize these plans as defined benefit
plans, but it has sufficient information to record this obligation as a provision at Note 19 "Provisions".
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

28  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

2012 2011 2012i 2011 2012i 2011

398.8$           394.7$           4.8$                4.8$                403.6$           399.5$           
Business combinations 284.5             -                 11.0                -                  295.5             -                 
Current service cost 2.4                 1.1                 0.1                  -                  2.5                 1.1                 
Past service cost 0.1                 -                 -                  -                  0.1                 -                 
Interest on defined benefit obligation 31.0               20.8               0.5                  0.2                  31.5               21.0               
Actuarial gains or losses on the

 defined benefit obligation 87.0               1.7                 0.3                  0.1                  87.3               1.8                 
Benefits paid (34.6)              (19.6)              (0.5)                 (0.3)                 (35.1)              (19.9)              
Employee contributions 0.8                 0.1                 -                  -                  0.8                 0.1                 
Gain on plans curtailment (1.9)                -                 (1.5)                 -                  (3.4)                -                 
Impact of settlement (1.5)                -                 -                  -                  (1.5)                -                 

766.6$           398.8$           14.7$              4.8$                781.3$           403.6$           

Fair value of plan assets
338.4$           346.5$           -$                -$                338.4$           346.5$           

Business combinations 256.9             -                 -                  -                  256.9             -                 
Expected return on plan assets 32.3               23.8               -                  -                  32.3               23.8               
Actuarial gains or losses on plan assets 5.4                 (24.6)              -                  -                  5.4                 (24.6)              
Benefits paid (34.6)              (19.6)              (0.5)                 (0.3)                 (35.1)              (19.9)              
Employee contributions 0.8                 0.1                 -                  -                  0.8                 0.1                 
Employer contributions 28.2               12.2               0.5                  0.3                  28.7               12.5               
Impact of settlement (1.8)                -                 -                  -                  (1.8)                -                 

625.6$           338.4$           -$                -$                625.6$           338.4$           

(141.0)$          (60.4)$            (14.7)$             (4.8)$               (155.7)$          (65.2)$            

The defined benefit liability is included in the Corporation’s Statements of Financial Position as follows:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1, 

2010

Other assets -$                0.1$               1.5$               
(155.7)             (65.3)              (54.5)              
(155.7)$           (65.2)$            (53.0)$            

The following table presents historical information on the defined benefit plans:

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1, 

2010

625.6$            338.4$           346.5$           
781.3              403.6             399.5             

(155.7)$           (65.2)$            (53.0)$            

Experience adjustments on plan assets: 5.4$                (24.6)$            14.1$             
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities: 4.0$                (7.7)$              -$               

Defined benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year

Balance, end of year

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, end of year

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the changes in the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, as well as the funded status of the defined benefit plans, for the years
ended October 31:

Pension benefits Other post-employment benefits Total

Defined benefit liabililty

Other liabilities

Fair value of plan assets
Defined benefit obligation
Deficit
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

28  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

As at
October 31,

2012

As at
October 31,

2011

As at
November 1,

2010

Fair value of funded or partially funded plan assets 625.6$           338.4$           346.5$            -$                -$               -$               
Defined benefit obligation of funded or partially funded plans 738.2             382.8             379.0              -                  -                 -                 
Funding status of funded or partially funded 

plans - deficit (112.6)$          (44.4)$            (32.5)$             -$                -$               -$               
Defined benefit obligation of unfunded plans 28.4               16.0               15.7                14.7                4.8                 4.8                 
Total funding status - deficit (141.0)$          (60.4)$            (48.2)$             (14.7)$             (4.8)$              (4.8)$              

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used for the years ended October 31:

2012 2011

Defined benefit obligation
Discount rate, end of year 4.40 % 5.50 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.07 % 3.07 %

Discount rate, end of previous year 5.25 % 5.50 %
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (1) 6.40 % 7.00 %
Rate of compensation increase 3.07 % 3.07 %

Increase (decrease)

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

Defined 
benefit 

cost

Impact of 1% increase in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets -$               (5.0)$              
Impact of 1% decrease in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets -$               5.0$               
Impact of 1% increase in discount rate (92.9)$            0.9$               
Impact of 1% decrease in discount rate 112.6$           (1.6)$              
Impact of 1% increase in growth rate of health care costs 1.4$               0.1$               
Impact of 1% decrease in growth rate of health care costs (1.2)$              (0.1)$              

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the funding status of defined benefit plans:

Pension benefits Other post-employment benefits

The Corporation expects to contribute $35.4 million to its defined benefit plans for the year ending October 31, 2013. The actual amount paid may differ from the estimate based on
the results of the actuarial valuations that will be done as at December 31, 2012.

Defined benefit cost

(1) The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets represents the weighted average expected return on the various plan asset classes held. Management estimates the
expected return based on historical trends and expected market returns for assets with a term similar to the related obligation.

As at October 31, 2012, the growth rate of health care costs on other post-employment benefit plans, was estimated at 8.0% or 7.0% depending on the plan, gradually decreasing to
reach 4.5% in 2018 and 3.0% by 2027, according to the plan, and remain constant thereafter.

The following table presents the impact of changes in the major assumptions on the defined benefit obligation and on the defined benefit cost for the year ended October 31, 2012.
The sensitivities of each assumption were calculated without considering changes in other assumptions.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

28  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Current service cost 2.4$               1.1$               0.1$                -$                2.5$               1.1$               
Past service cost 0.1                 -                 -                  -                  0.1                 -                 
Interest on defined benefit obligation 31.0               20.8               0.5                  0.2                  31.5               21.0               

(32.3)              (23.8)              -                  -                  (32.3)              (23.8)              
(1.9)                -                 (1.5)                 -                  (3.4)                -                 
0.3                 -                 -                  -                  0.3                 -                 

Defined benefit cost (0.4)$              (1.9)$              (0.9)$               0.2$                (1.3)$              (1.7)$              

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Balance of actuarial gains or losses before income taxes, 
beginning of year 26.3$             -$               0.1$                -$                26.4$             -$               

Actuarial gains or losses before income taxes 
recognized during the year 81.6               26.3               0.3                  0.1                  81.9               26.4               

Balance of actuarial gains or losses before 
income taxes, end of year 107.9$           26.3$             0.4$                0.1$                108.3$           26.4$             

2012 2011

Defined contribution pension plans 16.5$             17.1$             
State plans 17.9               17.1               

34.4$             34.2$             

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The defined benefit cost for the years ended October 31 includes the following items:

Pension benefits Other post-employment benefits Total

Expected return on plan assets

The following table presents the costs recognized under operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) for defined contribution pension plans and State plans
for the years ended October 31:

Gain on plans curtailment
Impact of settlement

The defined benefit costs (reversals) recognized in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011 were
$1.7 million and ($1.7) million, respectively. The gain on plans curtailment in the amount of $3.4 million and an expense of $0.4 million were recognized in restructuring and other
costs in the Consolidated Statement of Loss for the year ended October 31, 2012.

The following table presents the cumulative actuarial gains and losses before income taxes in other comprehensive loss for the years ended October 31:

Pension benefits Other post-employment benefits Total
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

29  COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Less than 1 to More than 
1 year 5 years 5 years Total

Leasing of premises 36.4$              122.9$            84.9$             244.2$           
Machinery and equipment acquisition contracts 0.9                  0.7                  -                 1.6                 

37.3$              123.6$            84.9$             245.8$           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Commitments
The Corporation is committed, under various leases of premises and machinery and equipment acquisition contracts, to make payments until 2029. Minimum payments required
over the coming years for these commitments are as follows:

Under the terms of debt agreements, the Corporation has agreed to indemnify the holders of such debt instruments against any increase in their costs or reduction in the amounts
otherwise payable to them resulting from changes in laws and regulations. These indemnification commitments are in effect for the term of the agreements and have no limitations.
Given the nature of these indemnification agreements, the Corporation is unable to estimate its maximum potential liability to third parties. Historically, the Corporation has not made
any indemnification payments and, as at October 31, 2012, the Corporation had not recorded a liability associated with these indemnification agreements.

c) Business disposals
In connection with the disposal of operations or assets, the Corporation may agree to indemnify against any claims that may result from its previous activities. Given the nature of
these indemnification agreements, the Corporation is unable to estimate its maximum potential liability to guaranteed parties. Historically, the Corporation has not made any
significant indemnification payments and, as at October 31, 2012, the Corporation had not recorded any liability associated with these indemnification agreements.

Contingent liabilities
In the normal course of operations, the Corporation is involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome of these pending cases as at October 31, 2012 cannot
be determined with certainty, the Corporation considers that their outcome is unlikely to have a material adverse effect on its financial position and operating results, given the
provisions or insurance coverage with regards to some of these claims and legal proceedings.

Guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Corporation has provided the following significant guarantees to third parties:

a) Sublease agreements
The Corporation has entered into sublease agreements for some of its locations under operating leases, with expiry dates between 2013 and 2018. If the sublessee defaults under
any of these agreements, the Corporation must indemnify the lessor. The maximum exposure in respect of these guarantees is estimated at $7.1 million. As at October 31, 2012, the
Corporation had not recorded any liability associated with these guarantees, since it is not probable that a sublessee will default under an agreement.

b) Indemnification of third parties
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

30  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk

As at As at As at
October 31, October 31, November 1,

2012 2011 2010

298.7$            238.0$           280.8$           
86.8                87.5               81.7               
22.8                25.1               23.0               
30.5                22.3               20.8               

438.8              372.9             406.3             

(14.5)               (7.2)                (10.2)              
-                  35.0               -                 

25.5                24.8               32.7               
449.8$            425.5$           428.8$           

2012 2011

7.2$               10.2$             
8.1                 -                 
3.2                 1.8                 

(4.0)                (4.8)                
14.5$             7.2$               

The Corporation determines whether receivables are past due according to the type of customers, their payment history and in which sector the customers conduct business. The
allowance for doubtful accounts and the past due receivables are reviewed on a quarterly basis by management. The Corporation records an impairment only on receivables where
collection is not reasonably certain.

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk with respect to its use of derivative financial instruments if one of the parties does not meet its obligations. However, it does not foresee this
possibility occuring because it deals only with recognized financial institutions with superior credit ratings. As at October 31, 2012, the maximum exposure to this type of credit risk
was $0.8 million ($2.3 million as at October 31, 2011 and $7.8 million as at November 1, 2010), which is the carrying value of the derivative financial instrument recorded in the
Corporation's assets.

Past due receivables :

Trade receivables

Current
1-30 days past due

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur losses arising from the failure of third parties to meet their contractual obligations. The Corporation is exposed to credit risk related
to its accounts receivable. It is also exposed to credit risk with regard to its normal activities involving cash and its derivative financial instrument assets.

The Corporation regularly analyses the financial position of its customers and uses special assessment procedures for new customers. The Corporation sets specific credit limits per
customer and regularly reviews them.

Owing to the diversification of its products, its customers and geographic coverage, the Corporation is protected against credit risk concentration. As at October 31, 2012, no single
customer accounted for more than 5% of the consolidated accounts receivable and the Corporation's 20 largest customers accounted for less than 25% of the consolidated accounts
receivable. As at October 31, 2012, the maximum credit risk exposure of accounts receivable was equivalent to their carrying value. Also, the Corporation has a credit insurance
policy covering most of its large customers for a maximum amount of $20.0 million. The policy's provisions include standard clauses and contain limits on amounts that may be
claimed by event and by year of coverage.

The allowance for doubtful accounts has varied as follows for the years ended October 31:

Balance, beginning of year
Business combination
Bad debt expense
Receivables recovered or written off
Balance, end of year

31-60 days past due
More than 60 days past due

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amount related to sold activities (Note 26)
Other receivables

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Based on customers payment history, the Corporation is of the opinion that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to cover risks of non-payment.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

30  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at October 31, 2012:

Carrying Contractual Less than More than
value cash flows 1 year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1) (332.3)$          (332.3)$          (332.3)$           -$                -$               -$               
Long-term debt (487.6)            (552.7)            (303.3)             (167.6)             (25.8)              (56.0)              
Long-term accrued liabilities (2) (8.0)                (8.0)                -                  (8.0)                 -                 -                 

(827.9)            (893.0)            (635.6)             (175.6)             (25.8)              (56.0)              

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts

Fund outflows -                 (60.9)              (55.9)               (5.0)                 -                 -                 
Fund inflows 0.8                 62.1               56.9                5.2                  -                 -                 

Interest rate swaps (1.3)                (1.4)                (0.8)                 (0.6)                 -                 -                 
Cross currency interest rate swap (9.6)                (9.9)                (3.9)                 (6.0)                 -                 -                 

(10.1)              (10.1)              (3.7)                 (6.4)                 -                 -                 

(838.0)$          (903.1)$          (639.3)$           (182.0)$           (25.8)$            (56.0)$            

The following table presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at October 31, 2011:

Carrying Contractual Less than More than
value cash flows 1 year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1) (280.8)$          (280.8)$          (280.8)$           -$                -$               -$               
Long-term debt (564.4)            (623.5)            (290.9)             (193.3)             (82.0)              (57.3)              
Long-term accrued liabilities (2) (2.2)                (2.2)                -                  (2.2)                 -                 -                 

(847.4)            (906.5)            (571.7)             (195.5)             (82.0)              (57.3)              

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts

Fund outflows -                 (91.7)              (56.0)               (35.7)               -                 -                 
Fund inflows 3.8                 96.7               60.5                36.2                -                 -                 

Interest rate swaps (5.2)                (5.8)                (4.2)                 (1.6)                 -                 -                 
Cross currency interest rate swap (8.7)                (9.4)                (2.8)                 (4.7)                 (1.9)                -                 

(10.1)              (10.2)              (2.5)                 (5.8)                 (1.9)                -                 

(857.5)$          (916.7)$          (574.2)$           (201.3)$           (83.9)$            (57.3)$            

(1) Excluding derivative financial instruments
(2) Excluding non-financial liabilities

2012

2011

The Corporation believes that future funds generated by operating activities and the access to additional funds on banking and financial markets will be adequate to meet its
obligations. Also, the Corporation has entered into long-term contracts with the majority of its large customers. These contracts contain cost-escalation clauses equivalent to those
required by the Corporation's suppliers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they mature. The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk related to its accounts
payable, long-term debt, derivative financial instrument liabilities and contractual obligations.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

30  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other Other
Net income Net income

(loss) loss (loss) loss

(0.6)$               0.2$                (0.4)$              1.1$               

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at October 31, 2012, the Corporation entered into a cross currency interest rate swap agreement, maturing in July 2015, to convert the interest rate on the debt of €29.5 million
($38.1 million), which bears interest at the EURIBOR rate plus 1.60%, to the banker's acceptance rate plus 3.36%. This instrument also sets the exchange rate at 1.5761. This swap
is designated as cash flow hedges as at October 31, 2012 and the hedging relationship was effective and in accordance with the risk management objectives and strategies
throughout the year 2012.

For the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, all things being equal, a hypothetical strengthening of the interest rate by 0.5% would have the following impact on net income
(loss) and other comprehensive loss:

2012 2011

Market risk
The market risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur losses arising from adverse changes in underlying market factors, including interest and exchange rates.

a) Interest rate risk
The Corporation is exposed to market risk related to interest rate fluctuations. To reduce this risk, the Corporation seeks to maintain an adequate balance of fixed and floating long-
term liabilities. As at October 31, 2012, the floating rate portion of the long-term debt was 53% of the total debt (59% as at October 31, 2011), while the fixed rate portion accounted
for 47% (41% as at October 31, 2011).

As at October 31, 2012, to reduce the interest rate risk, the Corporation entered into interest rate swap agreements with respect to the long-term debt in Canadian dollars, for a
notional amount of $100.0 million, maturing in May 2014. Swaps are designated as cash flow hedges as at October 31, 2012 and hedging relationships were effective and in
accordance with the risk management objectives and strategies throughout the year 2012. The swap agreements convert the floating interest rate based on the banker's acceptance
rate to an average fixed rate of 3.47%, including an applicable margin. Given the economic impact of the derivative financial instruments, the floating rate portion of the long-term
debt is 33% of the total debt (19% as at October 31, 2011), while the fixed rate portion is 67% (81% as at October 31, 2011). On September 26, 2012, interest rate swaps on long-
term debt in Canadian dollars, for a notional amount of $125.0 million, matured.

comprehensive comprehensive

A hypothetical weakening of the interest rate by 0.5% would have the opposite effect on net income (loss) and other comprehensive income loss.

b) Foreign currency risk
The Corporation operates in and exports goods to the United States, and purchases machinery and equipment denominated in U.S. dollars and in euros. Moreover, as at October
31, 2012, the Corporation had long-term debt denominated in U.S. dollars and in euros, totalling US$206.9 million and €29.5 million (US$263.5 million and €39.3 million as at
October 31, 2011). Consequently, it is exposed to risks arising from foreign currency fluctuations.

To manage foreign currency risk on exports to the United States, the Corporation enters into foreign exchange forward contracts. As at October 31, 2012, the Corporation held
foreign exchange forward contracts to sell US$61.0 million (US$92.5 million as at October 31, 2011), including US$56.0 million and US$5.0 million that will be sold during the years
ending October 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The maturities of foreign exchange forward contracts range from 1 to 13 months at rates varying from 0.9890 to 1.0554. Foreign
exchange forward contracts are designated as cash flow hedges as at October 31, 2012 and hedging relationships were effective and in accordance with the risk management
objectives and strategies throughout the year 2012.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

30  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other Other
Net income Net income

(loss) loss (loss) loss

0.5$                (4.4)$               1.5$               (5.6)$              
-                  3.6                  -                 2.2                 

Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
value value value value

Long-term debt 509.0$            487.6$            586.7$           564.4$           
Foreign exchange forward contracts 0.8                  0.8                  3.8                 3.8                 
Interest rate swaps (1.3)                 (1.3)                 (5.2)                (5.2)                
Cross currency interest rate swap (9.6)                 (9.6)                 (8.7)                (8.7)                

Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents financial instruments recorded at fair value based on the assessment method. Various levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 - Unadjusted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Inputs other than the prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Foreign exchange forward contracts -$                0.8$                -$               0.8$               
Interest rate swaps -                  (1.3)                 -                 (1.3)                
Cross currency interest rate swap -                  (9.6)                 -                 (9.6)                

-$                (10.1)$             -$               (10.1)$            

Foreign exchange forward contracts -$                3.8$                -$               3.8$               
Interest-rate swaps -                  (5.2)                 -                 (5.2)                
Cross currency interest rate swap -                  (8.7)                 -                 (8.7)                

-$                (10.1)$             -$               (10.1)$            

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011, all things being equal, a hypothetical 10.0% strengthening of the U.S. dollar and the euro compared with the Canadian dollar would
have the following impact on net income (loss) and other comprehensive income loss:

2012 2011

The carrying value of certain financial instruments maturing in the short term approximates their fair value. These financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and provisions. The following table indicates the fair value and the carrying value of certain financial instruments as at October 31, 2012 and 2011.
Fair values are primarily determined based on the calculation of discounted cash flows or by using market rates. The fair values calculated approximate the amounts for which the
financial instruments could be settled between consenting parties based on current market data for similar instruments. Accordingly, by virtue of its estimative nature, the fair value
must not be interpreted as being realizable in the event of the immediate settlement of instruments.

2012 2011

2012

2011

comprehensive comprehensive

U.S. dollars
Euros

A hypothetical 10.0% weakening of the U.S. dollar and the euro compared with the Canadian dollar would have the opposite effect on net income (loss) and other comprehensive
loss.

Fair value

 2012 Annual Report   103........2012 Annual Report 103TRANSCONTINENTAL

21_74116_ANG_P54 a 114.indd   103 12-12-25   1:21 PM



Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

31  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

•

•
•

2012 2011

Long-term debt 204.1$           292.5$           
Current portion of long-term debt 283.5             271.9             
Cash (16.8)              (75.0)              
Net debt 470.8$           489.4$           
Operating income from continuing operations before amortization, restructuring 

and other costs, impairment of assets and gain on business acquisition 357.6$           365.4$           
Net debt ratio 1.32x 1.34x

32  SEGMENT REPORTING

Preserve its financial flexibility in order to benefit from potential opportunities when they arise.

The Corporation relies on the ratio of net debt (including, if any, the utilization of the securitization program) on operating income from continuing operations before amortization,
restructuring and other costs, impairment of assets and gain on business acquisition as a primary measure to monitor leverage. The net debt ratio is as follows for the years ended
October 31, 2012 and 2011:

As at October 31, 2012, the Corporation's net debt ratio was 1.32x (1.34x as at October 31, 2011). The cash flows generated by operating activities, combined with a reduction in
acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were partly offset by costs related to business acquisitions and the integration of the activities of Quad/Graphics
Canada, Inc., which led to the a slight decrease in the net debt from $489.4 million as at October 31, 2011, to $470.8 million as at October 31, 2012.

For the year ended October 31, 2012, the Corporation was not in default regarding any of its obligations related to the term revolving credit facility, the securitization program and
other financial obligations.

On November 1, 2011, the Corporation implemented a new operating structure, combining the majority of the Interactive Sector's activities with those of the Media Sector to form a
single sector in order to better meet the multi-platform marketing communication needs of organizations. For their part, digital printing activities established in the United States will
complete the product offering of the Printing Sector. Comparative figures have therefore been restated to reflect this change.

The operating segments are defined in terms of the types of products and services offered by the Corporation. The Printing Sector generates revenues through printing activities for
publishers of magazines, books and newspapers, as well as retail customers. The Media Sector generates revenues through the publishing of magazines, newspapers and books, a
diversified digital platform and a door-to-door network for distributing advertising material that allows advertisers to reach consumers directly, as well as through interactive marketing
products and services that use new communication platforms supported by marketing strategy and planning services, database analytics, premedia, e-flyers, email marketing,
custom communications and mobile solutions. Also, since April 2012, the Media Sector offers television content creation services that can be delivered on all communication
platforms, from TV channels for general broadcasting to new media, Internet and mobile channels for on-demand delivery. Sales between the Corporation’s segments are
recognized at the exchange amount. Transactions other than sales are recognized at the carrying amount.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation manages and modifies its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Corporation's main capital management objectives are as follows:

Optimize the financial structure by maintaining a ratio of net debt to operating income from continuing operations before amortization, restructuring and other costs, impairment
of assets and gain on business acquisition of approximately 1.50x;
Maintain a high credit rating;
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

32  SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Operating segments 2012i 2011ii

Revenues
Printing Sector 1,480.5$        1,374.4$        
Media Sector 712.0             697.0             
Other activities and unallocated amounts 8.5                 8.1                 
Inter-segment sales (88.9)              (90.2)              

2,112.1$        1,989.3$        

Operating income (loss) before amortization
Printing Sector 266.9$           268.6$           
Media Sector (161.4)            36.0               
Other activities and unallocated amounts (2.8)                (9.5)                

102.7$           295.1$           

Operating income (loss)
Printing Sector 181.9$           183.9$           
Media Sector (182.9)            8.1                 
Other activities and unallocated amounts (8.7)                (15.7)              

(9.7)$              176.3$           

Acquisitions of non-current assets (1)

Printing Sector 49.5$             31.8$             
Media Sector 36.6               29.5               
Other activities and unallocated amounts 4.8                 4.2                 

90.9$             65.5$             

Amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Printing Sector 85.0$             84.7$             
Media Sector 21.5               27.9               
Other activities and unallocated amounts 5.9                 6.2                 

112.4$           118.8$           

Impairment of assets
Printing Sector 2.5$               3.9$               
Media Sector 229.5             51.3               

232.0$           55.2$             

2012 2011

Main products and services
Printed products 1,396.2$        1,286.3$        
Publishing products 433.5             423.7             
Digital and interactive products 144.6             135.9             
Other products and services 137.8             143.4             

2,112.1$        1,989.3$        

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years ended October 31 include the following components (by segment):

(1) These amounts include acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other non-current assets, excluding those acquired in business combinations, whether
they have been paid or not.

The Corporation’s revenues by main products and services for the years ended October 31, were as follows:
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

32  SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

As at As at As at
October 31, October 31, November 1,

Operating segments 2012 2011 2010

Assets
Printing Sector 1,247.7$         1,207.3$        1,347.7$        
Media Sector 777.3              928.7             947.8             
Other activities and unallocated amounts 111.2              196.5             114.1             
Asset from discountinued activities (Note 9) -                  27.5               106.9             

2,136.2$         2,360.0$        2,516.5$        

Geographic segments 2012i 2011ii

Revenues
Canada

Domestic 1,885.8$        1,758.1$        
Exports 125.0             127.4             

United States 101.3             103.8             
2,112.1$        1,989.3$        

As at As at As at
October 31, October 31, November 1,

2012 2011 2010

Non-current assets (1)

Canada 1,214.0$         1,379.6$        1,472.5$        
United States 126.8              149.5             169.7             
Assets related to discontinued operations (Note 9) -                  13.5               62.6               

1,340.8$         1,542.6$        1,704.8$        

33  SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Renegotiation of the agreement with Hearst Corporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation's total assets by segment are as follows:

The geographic segment components in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position for the years ended October 31 are as
follows:

(1) These amounts include property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and other non-current assets, and exclude derivative financial instrument assets, deferred
income tax assets and defined benefit assets.

On December 6, 2012, the Corporation announced the renegotiation of its agreement with Hearst Corporation to print the San Francisco Chronicle . The Corporation will receive in
January 2013 an amount of US$200.0 million in consideration for price reductions on the remaining term of the contract. The amount received will be recognized as deferred
revenues and transferred to revenues based on the remaining term of the contract.
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

34  TRANSITION TO IFRS

Exemptions to complete retrospective application of IFRS

a) Business combinations

b) Share-based payment transactions

c) Deemed cost

d) Employee benefits

e) Cumulative translation differences

f) Borrowing costs

IFRS 1 permits to not retrospectively apply IFRS 3, "Business Combinations", to business combinations that occured before the transition date. The Corporation has elected to apply
IFRS 3 prospectively from the transition date. As a result, the carrying value of goodwill, as determined previously under Canadian GAAP for business combinations that took place
before November 1, 2010, has not been restated. On the date of transition, goodwill was tested for impairment in accordance with IFRS 1 requirements with no resulting impairment
expense.

IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, application of IFRS 2, "Share-based Payment" for equity instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002, as well as those that were
granted after November 7, 2002 and vested before the date of transition to IFRS. The Corporation has elected to apply IFRS 2 to all the equity instruments granted after
November 7, 2002, but not vested before the date of transition to IFRS. For stock options issued and vested before November 1, 2010, the amount recognized in contributed
surplus, as well as in share capital in the case of exercised options, has been reversed and recorded in retained earnings.

IFRS 1 allows for property, plant and equipment to be valued on the date of transition at fair value and to use such fair value as deemed cost as at this date. Deemed cost is the
amount used as a substitute for cost or amortized cost, with subsequent amortization calculated based on this amount. The Corporation has elected to apply this exemption to
certain items of property, plant and equipment.

IAS 19, "Employee Benefits", requires measuring actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans in accordance with IFRS from the commencement of the plans until the date of
transition. IFRS 1 permits recognizing cumulative actuarial gains and losses in retained earnings on the date of transition, and prospective application of IAS 19. The Corporation has
elected to apply this exemption and, as a result, accumulated actuarial gains and losses as at November 1, 2010 have been recognized in retained earnings for all its defined benefit
plans.

IAS 21, "The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates", requires computing translation differences in accordance with IFRS since the date that the foreign operation was
acquired or established. IFRS 1 permits cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations to be deemed to be zero on the date of transition. The gain or loss on subsequent
disposal of a foreign operation must exclude cumulative translation differences from before the date of transition to IFRS. The Corporation has elected to apply this exemption and,
consequently, the cumulative translation differences as at November 1, 2010 have been recognized in retained earnings.

IAS 23, "Borrowing Costs", is more directive than Canadian GAAP regarding the nature of borrowing costs that are directly capitalized as part of the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset. IFRS 1 offers an exemption that permits compliance with the requirements of IAS 23 for all qualifying assets whose capitalization begins at a date
prior to the date of transition or from the date of transition. The Corporation has elected to use this exemption and apply IAS 23 to all qualifying assets whose capitalization begins
from the date of transition. Consequently, the balance of the capitalized borrowing costs in property, plant and equipment as at November 1, 2010 under Canadian GAAP has been
reversed and recognized in retained earnings.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements are the Corporation's first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, as described in Note 2, "Significant
accounting policies".

The Corporation's date of transition to IFRS is November 1, 2010. For the purposes of preparing the opening Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at that date, the
Corporation applied the accounting policies described in Note 2 and the relief measures, called exemptions and exceptions, permitted under IFRS 1, "First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards", in order to avoid retroactive application of certain standards. The exemptions are optional, while the exceptions are mandatory.
Descriptions of the exemptions and exceptions applicable to the Corporation, along with the Corporation's elections, are presented below:
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Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

Mandatory exceptions

g) Estimates

h) Hedge accounting

i) Non-controlling interests

Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP and IFRS

a) Reconciliation of equity

Notes As at As at
October 31, November 1,

2011 2010 $

Equity in accordance with Canadian GAAP 1,329.0$        1,247.0$        

IFRS adjustments:
Employee benefits D (73.5)              (47.1)              
Borrowing costs E (12.0)              (13.2)              
Deemed cost F (97.1)              (102.4)            
Income taxes G 12.6               16.3               
Business combinations H (3.3)                -                 
Tax effect of all restatements G, I 52.7               48.9               
Other J (6.3)                (5.7)                

(126.9)            (103.2)            
Non-controlling interests A 0.8                 0.8                 
Equity in accordance with IFRS 1,202.9$        1,144.6$        

The provisions of IAS 27, "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements", must be applied prospectively on or after the date of transition. These provisions apply in particular to
the attribution of deficit balances to non-controlling interests, the recognition of changes in the ownership interests of a parent in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control,
and accounting for the loss of control over a subsidiary.

The following tables present the impact of adjustments made by the Corporation in order to prepare the opening Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at November 1,
2010 under IFRS, and to restate the Consolidated Financial Statements under Canadian GAAP for the year ended October 31, 2011. Explanations regarding the restatement under
IFRS of the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP are provided in the section that follows the tables.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IFRS 1 states that an entity's estimates in accordance with IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS shall be consistent with those made on the same date in accordance with Canadian
GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were in error. As a result, the estimates that the Corporation had prepared under Canadian GAAP were not revised
when IFRS were applied.

IFRS 1 does not allow hedging relationships that do not qualify for the use of hedge accounting under IFRS to be reflected in an entity's opening IFRS Statement of Financial
Position. Similarly, IFRS 1 allows for hedge accounting to be applied prospectively from the date of transition only to transactions that meet the hedge accounting criteria in IAS 39,
"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement", on this date. Consequently, transactions entered into before November 1, 2010 were not retroactively designated as hedges.
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34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

b) Reconciliation of net income and comprehensive income

Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended October 31, 2011

Notes
Canadian 

GAAP
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS

Revenues 1,989.3$         -$               1,989.3$        
Operating expenses J 1,624.3           (0.4)                1,623.9          
Restructuring and other costs H 11.8                3.3                 15.1               
Impairment of assets J 56.1                (0.9)                55.2               

Operating income before amortization 297.1              (2.0)                295.1             
Amortization E, F, G, J 117.7              1.1                 118.8             

Operating income 179.4              (3.1)                176.3             
Net financial expenses 45.0                -                 45.0               

Income before income taxes 134.4              (3.1)                131.3             
Income taxes I 29.5                2.0                 31.5               
Non-controlling interests A 0.9                  (0.9)                -                 

Net income from continuing operations 104.0              (4.2)                99.8               
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations B (19.4)               48.0               28.6               

Net income 84.6                43.8               128.4             
Non-controlling interests A -                  0.9                 0.9                 
Net income attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 84.6                42.9               127.5             
Dividends on preferred shares, net of related taxes 6.8                  -                 6.8                 
Net income attributable to participating shares 77.8$              42.9$             120.7$           

Net income 84.6                43.8               128.4             
Other comprehensive income (loss) B, D, E, F, I, J 43.0                (66.6)              (23.6)              
Comprehensive income 127.6              (22.8)              104.8             

Net income (loss) per participating share - basic and diluted
Continuing operations 1.20$              (0.06)$            1.14$             
Discontinued operations (0.24)               0.59               0.35               

0.96$              0.53$             1.49$             

Weighted average number of participating shares outstanding - basic (in millions) 81.0                81.0               81.0

Weighted average number of participating shares - diluted (in millions) 81.1                81.1               81.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reclassifications were made to amounts included in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2011 to present separately the net income (loss)
from discontinued operations.

 2012 Annual Report   109........2012 Annual Report 109TRANSCONTINENTAL

21_74116_ANG_P54 a 114.indd   109 12-12-25   1:21 PM



Years ended October 31, 2012 and 2011
and opening balances as at November 1, 2010
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

c) Reconciliation of financial position

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010

Notes
Canadian 

GAAP
IFRS 

adjustements IFRS

Current assets
Cash 31.9$              -$               31.9$             
Accounts receivable 428.8              -                 428.8             
Income taxes receivable 19.5                -                 19.5               
Inventories 74.2                -                 74.2               
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19.1                -                 19.1               
Deferred income taxes A 16.6                (16.6)              -                 
Current assets related to discontinued operations A 42.9                (1.1)                41.8               

633.0              (17.7)              615.3             

Property, plant and equipment E, F, G 859.3              (99.3)              760.0             
Intangible assets 179.1              -                 179.1             
Goodwill 674.8              -                 674.8             
Deferred income taxes A, G, I 145.3              44.6               189.9             
Other assets D 39.2                (6.9)                32.3               
Non-current assets related to discontinued operations A 64.0                1.1                 65.1               

2,594.7$         (78.2)$            2,516.5$        

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities A, J 340.0$            (15.7)$            324.3$           
Provisions A -                  15.6               15.6               
Income taxes payable 29.0                -                 29.0               
Deferred subscription revenues and deposits 38.4                -                 38.4               
Deferred income taxes A 2.5                  (2.5)                -                 
Current portion of long-term debt A 17.8                276.0             293.8             
Current liabilities related to discontinued operations 18.2                -                 18.2               

445.9              273.4             719.3             

Long-term debt A 712.9              (276.0)            436.9             
Deferred income taxes A, G, I 137.4              (18.4)              119.0             
Provisions A, D -                  15.8               15.8               
Other liabilities A, D, J 50.0                30.2               80.2               
Non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations 0.7                  -                 0.7                 

1,346.9           25.0               1,371.9          

Non-controlling interests A 0.8                  (0.8)                -                 

Equity
Share capital C 478.6              (0.7)                477.9             
Contributed surplus C 13.7                (12.6)              1.1                 
Retained earnings B, C, D, E, F, G, I, J 784.0              (114.7)            669.3             
Accumulated other comprehensive loss B (29.3)               24.8               (4.5)                
Attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 1,247.0           (103.2)            1,143.8          
Non-controlling interests A -                  0.8                 0.8                 

1,247.0           (102.4)            1,144.6          
2,594.7$         (78.2)$            2,516.5$        

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reclassifications were made to amounts included in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2010 to present separately the assets and liabilities
related to discontinued operations.
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34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at October 31, 2011

Notes
Canadian 

GAAP
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS

Current assets
Cash 75.0$              -$               75.0$             
Accounts receivable 425.5              -                 425.5             
Income taxes receivable 14.7                -                 14.7               
Inventories 77.2                -                 77.2               
Prepaid expenses and other current assets H 21.4                (3.3)                18.1               
Deferred income taxes A 16.8                (16.8)              -                 
Current assets related to discontinued operations 14.0                -                 14.0               

644.6              (20.1)              624.5             

Property, plant and equipment E, F, G 776.9              (96.5)              680.4             
Intangible assets J 150.8              (1.2)                149.6             
Goodwill 679.2              -                 679.2             
Deferred income taxes A, G, I 144.9              47.7               192.6             
Other assets D 43.7                (23.5)              20.2               
Non-current assets related to discontinued operations 13.5                -                 13.5               

2,453.6$         (93.6)$            2,360.0$        

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities A, J 296.1$            (9.0)$              287.1$           
Provisions A -                  8.6                 8.6                 
Income taxes payable 33.5                -                 33.5               
Deferred subscription revenues and deposits 32.5                -                 32.5               
Deferred income taxes A 2.0                  (2.0)                -                 
Current portion of long-term debt 271.9              -                 271.9             
Current liabilities related to discontinued operations 7.6                  -                 7.6                 

643.6              (2.4)                641.2             

Long-term debt 292.5              -                 292.5             
Deferred income taxes A, G, I 140.5              (19.8)              120.7             
Provisions A, D -                  13.9               13.9               
Other liabilities A, D, J 47.2                41.6               88.8               
Non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations -                  -                 -                 

1,123.8           33.3               1,157.1          

Non-controlling interests A 0.8                  (0.8)                -                 

Equity
Share capital C 478.8              (0.7)                478.1             
Contributed surplus C 14.4                (12.6)              1.8                 
Retained earnings B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J 822.1              (71.8)              750.3             
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) B, D, E, F, I, J 13.7                (41.8)              (28.1)              
Attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 1,329.0           (126.9)            1,202.1          
Non-controlling interests A -                  0.8                 0.8                 

1,329.0           (126.1)            1,202.9          
2,453.6$         (93.6)$            2,360.0$        

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reclassifications were made to amounts included in the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2011 to present separately the assets and liabilities
related to discontinued operations.
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34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

d) Reconciliation of cash flows

Consolidated Summary of Cash Flows for the year ended October 31, 2011

Notes
Canadian 

GAAP
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS

Cash flows from operating activities A, J 308.1$            30.9$             339.0$           
Cash flows from investing activities J (52.7)               3.6                 (49.1)              
Cash flows from financing activities A, J (217.0)             (34.5)              (251.5)            
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash denominated in foreign currencies 0.3                  -                 0.3                 
Increase in cash 38.7                -                 38.7               
Cash, beginning of year 36.3                -                 36.3               
Cash, end of year 75.0$              -$               75.0$             

Restatement in IFRS of the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP

i) Deferred tax

ii)

iii)

Consequently, as at November 1, 2010, short-term future tax assets and liabilities of $16.6 million and $2.5 million, respectively, were reclassified to deferred income taxes
included in the non-current assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As at October 31, 2011, short-term future tax assets and liabilities that have
been reclassified to deferred income taxes included in the non-current assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, were $16.8 million and
$2.0 million, respectively. As at November 1, 2010, short-term future income tax assets of $1.1 million included in assets related to discontinued operations have been
reclassified similarly.

Provisions
Under Canadian GAAP, provisions are included under the heading "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities." Under IFRS, provisions are presented separately in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Consequently, as at November 1, 2010, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $15.6 million and other liabilities of $10.6 million have been reclassified in the current and
non-current provisions, respectively, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As at October 31, 2011, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $8,6 million and
other liabilities of $8.7 million have been reclassified in the current and non-current provisions, respectively, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Non-controlling interests

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following items explain the most significant restatements made to the Corporation's consolidated financial statements, following application of IFRS.

A) Reclassifications

Under Canadian GAAP, future tax assets and liabilities are allocated to short-term and long-term items according to the nature of the underlying assets and liabilities. If the
future income tax assets and liabilities are not related to assets and liabilities recognized for accounting purposes, they are classified according to the date on which their
realization is expected. Under IFRS, deferred income tax assets are classified as non-current items.

Under Canadian GAAP, non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component between liabilities and equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and
as a reduction of net income (loss) in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss). Under IFRS, non-controlling interests are presented in equity in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position and as a separate component of the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) as net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests.

Consequently, an amount of $0.8 million was reclassified to equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010 and October 31, 2011.
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34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

iv)

v)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Classification of long-term debt
Under Canadian GAAP, debts that have short-term characteristics or maturity may be classified as long-term liabilities when the Corporation has the intent and ability to
refinance with long-term instruments. Under IFRS, these debts are classified as current liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Consequently, as at November 1, 2010, the term revolving credit facility of $177.9 million and the term credit facility of $98.1 million granted by Caisse de dépôt et placement du
Québec, which were presented in long-term liabilities, have been reclassified as current liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. No reclassification was
made in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at October 31, 2011, as the term revolving credit facility was already presented in short-term liabilities under
Canadian GAAP due to its short-term maturity and the term credit facility granted by Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec had been repaid on that date.

Financial expenses on long-term debt
Under Canadian GAAP, financial expenses on long-term debt are classified in operating activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. Under IFRS, an entity may elect to classify
financial expenses on long-term debt in operating or financing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. The Corporation has elected to classify financial expenses on long-term
debt in financing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

The Corporation's application of the IFRS 1 exemption has resulted in the recognition of cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and losses to retained earnings at the transition
date. The effect of this exemption was a $6.9 million decrease in other assets, a $35.0 million increase in other liabilities and the net effect, considering deferred income taxes, was 
recognized in retained earnings. The reversal of cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and losses, recorded in the year ended October 31, 2011, increased other assets by
$16.6 million, increased other liabilities by $9.8 million and the net effect, considering deferred income taxes, was recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The reversal
of unamortized cumulative actuarial gains and losses had a negligible effect on the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011.

Under Canadian GAAP, multi-employer pension plans are accounted for as defined contribution plans. IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" requires multi-employer plans with implicit
obligations to be accounted for as defined benefit plans when the Corporation has sufficient information to identify its share of the obligation under defined benefit, its share of plan
assets and costs associated with the plans. The Corporation does not have all the information to be able to recognize these plans as defined benefit plans, but it has sufficient
information to record this obligation as a provision. Consequently, a provision was recognized based on the data provided by the most recent actuarial valuations by applying an
estimated percentage of the share in the plan, calculated on a going concern basis, attributable to the Corporation. The recognition of a provision for multi-employer plans as at
November 1, 2010, resulted in a $5.2 million increase in provisions, and the net effect, considering deferred income taxes, was recognized in retained earnings. The recognition of
multi-employer plans had no effect on the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011.

Consequently, $34.5 million were reclassified in financing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended October 31, 2011.

B) Cumulative translation differences
The Corporation's application of the IFRS 1 exemption under which cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the date of transition,
resulted in a $24.8 million increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss with a corresponding decrease in retained earnings in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at November 1, 2010. Application of this exemption also resulted in a $48.0 million increase in net income from discontinued operations for the year ended October 31, 2011, in
order to reverse the realized foreign exchange loss related to the reduction of net investment in foreign operations on the sale of the Mexican printing operations.

C) Share-based payment transactions
The Corporation's application of the IFRS 2 exemption resulted in a $12.6 million decrease in contributed surplus with a corresponding increase in retained earnings in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010. The main reason for this restatement is that, under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation recognized the cost of
compensation related to a share option grant on a straight-line basis over the maximum vesting period. Under IFRS, a cost is associated with each tranche of an award of options,
and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the respective vesting period of each tranche of a share option grant. Application of the exemption under IFRS 2 also resulted in a
$0.7 million decrease in share capital with a corresponding increase in retained earnings in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010, for exercised
options affected by the exemption for which the amount credited to contributed surplus was transferred to share capital. Application of this exemption had no other effect on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2011.

D) Employee benefits
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34  TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

G) Income taxes
Under IFRS, deferred income tax assets should be recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred income tax asset is generated from the
initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction when it affects neither the accounting nor taxable income. The effect of this restatement resulted in a $16.3 million increase
in property, plant and equipment as at November 1, 2010. The effect of this restatement for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011 was a $3.7 million increase in amortization
expense.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E) Borrowing costs

The effect of all restatements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011 resulted in a $3.1 million decrease in income before income taxes and the recognition of a $2.0 million
additional income tax expense, a recovery of income taxes related to other comprehensive income of $ 5.7 million, and the effect on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position resulted in an increase in deferred income tax assets of $5.2 million and an increase in deferred income tax liabilities of $1.4 million.

J) Other
The other adjustments are related to various items whose individual and total effects on the Corporation's consolidated financial statements for the yeard ended October 31, 2011
have been negligible.

Under Canadian GAAP and IFRS, deferred taxes are calculated based on temporary differences, which are the differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its
carrying value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Under Canada's Income Tax Act, up to 75% of the cost of "eligible capital property" is deductible. Canadian
GAAP addresses this particular situation, stating that the tax basis must be grossed up 25%. Consequently, there are no temporary differences on an accounting basis. IFRS does
not address this specific situation, as such temporary differences are created between the tax bases and the carrying values of these assets. These temporary differences must be
recognized when the transaction is eligible as with a business combination. The effect of this restatement on the date of transition resulted in an increase in deferred income tax
assets and liabilities related to certain intangible assets of $0.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively, with a corresponding amount recorded in retained earnings. This restatement
had no other effect on the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011.

H) Business combinations
The Corporation's application of the IFRS 1 exemption under which it is permitted to apply IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" prospectively from the transition date, resulted in a
$3.3 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets with a corresponding increase in restructuring and other costs for the year ended October 31, 2011. Application
of this exemption had no effect on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at November 1, 2010.

I) Tax effect of all restatements
The effect of all restatements as at November 1, 2010 resulted in a $103.2 million decrease in equity. These restatements result in the recognition of deferred tax assets of
$27.4 million and a decrease in deferred tax liabilities of $24.5 million.

The Corporation's application of the IFRS 1 exemption under which interest expense previously capitalized under Canadian GAAP may be reclassified to retained earnings, resulted
in a $13.2 million decrease in property, plant and equipment as at November 1, 2010. The effect of this exemption for the year ended October 31, 2011 was a $1.1 million decrease
in amortization expense and a $0.1 million increase in the cumulative translation differences in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

F) Deemed cost
The Corporation's application of the IFRS 1 exemption under which the fair value of certain buildings on the date of transition was used as deemed cost, resulted in a
$102.4 million decrease in property, plant and equipment as at November 1, 2010. The effect of this exemption for the year ended October 31, 2011 was a $3.6 million decrease in
amortization expense and a $1.7 million increase in the cumulative translation differences in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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